
   

 
 

 

NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
Date: Tuesday, 21 November 2017 
 
Time:  11.00 am (pre-meeting for all Committee members at 10:30am) 
 
Place: Ground Floor Committee Room - Loxley House, Station Street, Nottingham, 

NG2 3NG 
 
Councillors are requested to attend the above meeting to transact the following 
business 

 
Corporate Director for Strategy and Resources 
 
Senior Governance Officer: Jane Garrard   Direct Dial: 0115 8764315 
 
 

   
1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 

 

3  MINUTES  
To confirm the minutes of the last meeting held on 19 September 2017 
 

3 - 8 

4  CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION UPDATE  
 

9 - 12 

5  NOTTINGHAM CITY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL 
REPORT 2016/17  
 

13 - 62 

6  SCRUTINY OF PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR EARLY INTERVENTION 
AND EARLY YEARS  
 

63 - 64 

7  CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK 
PROGRAMME  
 

65 - 70 

 

IF YOU NEED ANY ADVICE ON DECLARING AN INTEREST IN ANY ITEM ON THE 
AGENDA, PLEASE CONTACT THE GOVERNANCE OFFICER SHOWN ABOVE, IF 
POSSIBLE BEFORE THE DAY OF THE MEETING  
 

CITIZENS ATTENDING MEETINGS ARE ASKED TO ARRIVE AT LEAST 15 MINUTES 

Public Document Pack



BEFORE THE START OF THE MEETING TO BE ISSUED WITH VISITOR BADGES 
 
CITIZENS ARE ADVISED THAT THIS MEETING MAY BE RECORDED BY MEMBERS 
OF THE PUBLIC. ANY RECORDING OR REPORTING ON THIS MEETING SHOULD 
TAKE PLACE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE COUNCIL’S POLICY ON RECORDING AND 
REPORTING ON PUBLIC MEETINGS, WHICH IS AVAILABLE AT 
WWW.NOTTINGHAMCITY.GOV.UK. INDIVIDUALS INTENDING TO RECORD THE 
MEETING ARE ASKED TO NOTIFY THE GOVERNANCE OFFICER SHOWN ABOVE IN 
ADVANCE.



 

1 

NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL  
 
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of the meeting held at Ground Floor Committee Room - Loxley 
House, Station Street, Nottingham, NG2 3NG on 19 September 2017 from 11.06 
am - 12.44 pm 
 
Membership  
Present Absent 
Councillor Azad Choudhry 
Councillor Josh Cook (Vice Chair) 
Councillor Mohammed Ibrahim 
Councillor Patience Uloma Ifediora 
Councillor Brian Parbutt 
Councillor Neghat Khan 
Councillor David Mellen 
 

Councillor Sue Johnson - Chair 
Councillor Georgina Culley 
Councillor Chris Tansley 
 

Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:  
Helen Blackman - Director of Children’s Integrated Services  
Steve Comb - Head of Children in Care 
Jane Garrard - Constitutional Services 
Judith Harris - Leadership Support Officer 
Kate Morris - Governance Officer 
 
17  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Councillor Georgina Cully - Unwell 
Councillor Sue Johnson - Unwell 
 
In the absence of the Chair, the meeting was chaired by Councillor Josh Cook, Vice 
Chair.  
 
18  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

 
None. 
 
19  MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on the 18 July 2017 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair.  
 
20  OFSTED PILOT INSPECTION OF CHILDREN'S SERVICES - FOLLOW UP 

FOCUS ON SUPPORT FOR CARE LEAVERS 
 

Councillor David Mellen, Portfolio Holder for Early Intervention and Early Years 
introduced the report on the OFSTED pilot inspection of Children’s Services – follow 
up focus on support for care leavers. Helen Blackman, Director of Integrated 
Children’s Services and Steve Comb, Head of Children in Care provided additional 
information. They highlighted the following information: 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee - 19.09.17 

2 

(a)  there are currently 219 young adults open to the Leaving Care Team. The 
team continue to work with care leavers into their 20’s and until they leave full 
time education;  

 
(b)   the Council’s duty to provide accommodation for looked after children ends 

when they turn 18 and become care leavers, unless they are in full time 
education then Council has a duty to provide assistance with education fees 
and living costs; 

 
(c)   in January 2017 Nottingham City Council’s Children’s Services were 

inspected by OFSTED using the new pilot scheme of inspection. As reported 
to this Committee previously the OFSTED report offered mainly positive 
comments. 

 
(d)   at the time of the inspection there were 70% of care leavers in full time 

education, employment and training, 14 care leavers at university and 7 were 
employed as apprentices at Nottingham City Council, 85% were in 
appropriate housing; 

 
(e)   OFSTED identified a small group of around 15 individuals who were hard to 

engage and challenged the Council to be more tenacious in its attempts at 
keeping in touch with these care leavers; 

 
(f)   the Leaving Care Team is now in touch with around 50% of those hard to 

engage care leavers; 
 
(g)   there are a number of difficulties in engaging all care leavers. They are adults 

and it is not possible to compel them to stay in touch if they do not want to. 
Some people want to forget that they were in care and refuse to 
acknowledge attempts at contact, and some move away and don’t inform the 
Council;  

 
(h)   Nottingham City Council’s in-house employability scheme for care leavers 

started in 2015 and achieved its aim of employing at least 10% of care 
leavers within the City Council. A dedicated employment worker placed within 
the Leaving Care Team offers support to the most disengaged care leavers 
and the work has been recognised by the Department of Work and Pensions;  

 
(i)   OFSTED found that the majority of care leavers were in suitable 

accommodation. However a small number, 25, were found to be in 
accommodation deemed unsuitable. This unsuitable accommodation 
included returning to the family home and custody; 

 
(j)   an independent review took place of the leaving care services and an action 

plan put in place to more tenaciously pursue contact with care leavers. This 
has led to the development of a keeping in touch protocol and strengthened 
links with external agencies; 

 
(k)   in 2016 the Government announced the Keep on Caring strategy.  This will 

allow all care leavers up to the age of 25 to go back to their leaving care 

Page 4



Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee - 19.09.17 

3 

team to ask for help and support. This could place additional demand on the 
service, more will be known in April 2018 when guidance is issued; 

 
Following questions from the Committee the following points were made: 
 
(l)   once a child in care turns 18 they become an adult, and a care leaver and as 

such they do not have to inform the Council where they are living, who they 
are living with, whether they are moving away etc. At this point the Council 
cannot tell the care leaver where they should live, or who they should live 
with; 

 
(m)   in 2014 Children’s Integrated Services was inspected by OFSTED and found 

to require improvements. After a sustained work programme OFSTED now 
rate the service as good; 

 
(n)   the level of staffing within the Leaving Care Team is comparable to other 

teams in comparable authorities; 
 
(o)   the Government has introduced a staying put option for care leavers, where 

the young person stays with the foster family. The young person has 
continuity in care, and stability and the foster family is paid a “staying put” 
grant. This does however mean that the City Council loses a foster family 
placement;  

 
(p)   changes in data protection are introducing the right to be forgotten. It will 

require a balance between being tenacious in keeping contact with care 
leavers and respecting their right to be forgotten and not wishing to have 
further contact with the Council; 

 
(q)   at present it is between 2 and 3% of care leavers that the Leaving Care 

Team are not in touch with in any way. 
 

RESOLVED to thank Councillor David Mellen, Helen Blackman and Steve Comb 
for their attendance and to note the content of their report.  
 
21  SOCIAL WORKER RECRUITMENT, RETENTION AND CASELOAD 

MANAGEMENT 
 

Helen Blackman, Director of Integrated Children’s Services, introduced a report on 
social worker recruitment, retention and caseload management. Councillor David 
Mellen, Portfolio Holder for Early Intervention and Early Years provided additional 
information. They highlighted the following points: 
 

(a)   nationally there is high demand for Social Workers. Since 2009 there have 
been some big changes in legislation and high profile cases which have 
caused a lot of turbulence in social care. This has led to a very mobile 
workforce with lowered retention and it is common practice for social work 
agencies to approach permanent staff with offers of much higher rates of pay 
than permanent roles; 

 

Page 5



Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee - 19.09.17 

4 

(b)   nationally, in 2009 1 in 9 social work roles were not filled and in 2015-16 
there was a 10% increase in agency joiners; 

 
(c)   the title “Social Worker” is a protected title, social workers are required by law 

to register, have their training audited and there is an expectation of 
continuous development and training; 

 
(d)   nationally the annual turnover of Social Workers is around 15%. Nottingham 

City currently has an annual turnover of around 11%. Approximately 19% of 
the Council’s Social Workers are agency staff, which is comparable to other 
local authorities in the East Midlands; 

 
(e)   over the last three years Nottingham City Council has over recruited newly 

qualified Social Workers who have then started an assessed and supported 
year of employment (ASYE). This programme allows them to experience the 
different aspects of social work across a range of teams and gain a solid 
grounding to becoming a long term member of social work staff at the 
Council. It has been very successful  and had a positive impact on existing 
Social Workers;  

 
(f)   in addition to the ASYE scheme there is a new “Grow Our Own” scheme 

which, in partnership with Manchester Metropolitan University provides a fast 
track distance learning course for existing staff with experience of social work 
roles but who are not qualified as Social Workers, such as play and youth 
staff. The degree takes 2 years and costs are covered by a work place loan 
paid back over a number of years on qualification. There has been good 
uptake with 28 students on the first cohort;  

 
(g)   case load management is still challenging. Nottingham City Council aims for 

all Social Workers to have 23 cases or less.  This is generally achieved, 
although there are still a number of Social Workers who’s caseload exceeds 
this number; 

 
(h)   the Council is also doing well in converting agency staff into permanent staff. 

In the last 4 months 8 agency staff have become permanent members of 
staff;  

 
(i)   OFSTED described Nottingham City Council as an employer of choice for 

Social Workers and recognised it as a place where social work can flourish. It 
acknowledged the investment in social work working to ensure a stable and 
secure workforce;  

 
Following questions and comments from the Committee the following points were 
highlighted: 
 
(j)   early intervention work could be an easy target for cuts as they are not 

statutory services. However, a reduction of resources there would lead to 
less work with families at an earlier stage, families in need of help would be 
identified at a later stage leading to more intensive work by Social Workers 
when children have suffered for longer and are more expensive to support. 

Page 6



Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee - 19.09.17 

5 

Retention of Early Intervention Services reduces pressure on Social Workers 
and identifies families in need of support early; 

 
(k)   the ASYE scheme has been an important tool for recruitment and 

development of Social Workers. It would be beneficial for this scheme to 
continue to run as staff recruited and trained are more likely to stay within the 
Council longer term; 

 
(l)   there is an agreement with the other regional local authorities that no council 

will pay above a certain amount for Social work agency staff. The agencies 
are offering permanent staff between 50-100% more than their regular wage 
to become agency workers, so the council has to find a very fine balance 
between not paying too much for agency staff, but also having enough 
agency staff to alleviate the work load of permanent staff so as not to push 
them to join the agencies; 

 
(m)   the local universities were approached to design the bespoke “grow our own” 

scheme for the distance learning social work degree, however they could not 
offer the course and Manchester Metropolitan was the only institute who 
could offer the fast track course in the format the Council felt was most 
appropriate; 

 
(n)   the Council has considered forming a regional agency with other local 

authorities, however given the large sums of money being offered to agency 
staff it makes travel outside of the region more attractive; 

 
(o)   Nottingham currently has around 19% agency staff. Looking at the national 

picture there are more people leaving social work than joining making 
retention more difficult. Nottingham City is working hard to be a good 
authority to work for, rewarding work with challenging cases. The Council 
wants to be attractive to work for because of the difference it makes to lives 
and believes that this will be attractive to potential employees; 

 
(p)   national attitude to social work is one of the major influences on the reduction 

of people joining social work.  It is an emotionally demanding job, with long 
and unsociable hours all of which contributes to its decline in appeal as a 
career. 

 
RESOLVED to thank Councillor David Mellen and Helen Blackman for their 
attendance and to note the content of the report. 
 
22  WORK PROGRAMME 2017/18 

 
Jane Garrard, Senior Governance Officer, introduced the report on the Work 
Programme 2017/18. 
 
Resolved to note the work programme for the municipal year 2017/18  
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

21 NOVEMBER 2017 

CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION UPDATE  

REPORT OF HEAD OF LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE 

 
1 Purpose 
 
1.1 To receive an update on work to tackle child sexual exploitation in the 

City. 
 
 
2 Action required 
 
2.1 The Committee is asked to review the effectiveness of action to tackle 

child sexual exploitation in the City. 
 
 
3 Background information 

 
3.1 The findings and recommendations of the Jay and Casey reports into 

child sexual exploitation in Rotherham were a key driver for the 
establishment of this Committee to ensure robust scrutiny of issues 
relating to the wellbeing and safeguarding of children and young people 
in the City.  Therefore the Committee has requested regular updates on 
work to reduce risks of child sexual exploitation and tackle any cases of 
child sexual exploitation that occur. 

 
3.2 In December 2015 the Committee received an overview of work to tackle 

sexual exploitation in the City, including work with partners, including in 
Nottinghamshire County; development of practice guidance to support 
staff; provision of training and awareness raising for staff, carers and 
young people; and appointment of a Child Sexual Exploitation Co-
ordinator.   

 
3.3 The Child Sexual Exploitation Co-ordinator takes the operational lead in 

driving practice and learning and developing operational responses to 
the Cross Authority work plan; and manages the Missing Children’s 
Team to enable swift identification and intervention for any young people 
at risk of child sexual exploitation.  The Co-ordinator will be attending the 
meeting to discuss, and answer questions about her role. 

 
 
4 List of attached information 
 
4.1 Briefing paper on child sexual exploitation 
 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



 

5 Background papers, other than published works or those 
disclosing exempt or confidential information 

 
5.1 None 
 
 
6 Published documents referred to in compiling this report 
 
6.1 Report to and minutes of the Children and Young People Scrutiny 

Committee meeting held on  
 
 Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham, 2014 

(Jay Report) 
 
 Department of Communities and Local Government Report ‘Report of 

Inspection of Rotherham Borough Council’, 2015 (Casey Report) 
 
 
7 Wards affected 
 
7.1 All 
 
 
8 Contact information 
 
8.1 Jane Garrard, Senior Governance Officer 
 jane.garrard@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 0115 8764315 

Page 10

mailto:jane.garrard@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


 

 

Child Sexual Exploitation  

Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee November 2017 

Background 

Sexual exploitation of children and young people under 18 involves exploitative situations, contexts and 
relationships where young people (or a third person or persons) receive 'something' (e.g. food, 
accommodation, drugs, alcohol, cigarettes, affection, gifts, money) as a result of them performing, 
and/or another or others performing on them, sexual activities. Child sexual exploitation can occur 
through the use of technology without the child's immediate recognition; for example being persuaded to 
post sexual images on the Internet/mobile phones without immediate payment or gain. In all cases, 
those exploiting the child/young person have power over them by virtue of their age, gender, intellect, 
physical strength and/or economic or other resources. Violence, coercion and intimidation are common, 
involvement in exploitative relationships being characterised in the main by the child or young person's 
limited availability of choice resulting from their social/economic and/or emotional vulnerability. Children 
or young people may be tricked into believing they are in a loving, consensual relationship. 

Any child or young person may be at risk of sexual exploitation, regardless of their family background or 
other circumstances. This includes boys and young men as well as girls and young women.  

National research identifies certain groups as being particularly vulnerable to exploitation. This includes   

 Children who regularly go missing from home or care 

 Children who are disengaged from education  

 Living in a chaotic or dysfunctional household (including parental substance use, domestic 
violence, parental mental health issues and criminality) 

 History of abuse (including familial child sexual abuse, risk of forced marriage, risk of 
honour-based violence, physical and emotional abuse and neglect)  

 Friends with young people who are sexually exploited 

 Living in residential care 

 Children who sexually harm  

Our experience locally suggests that young people who have siblings who are sexually exploited are 
also at increased vulnerability of sexual exploitation.  

Working with children who have been, or are at risk of being sexually exploited.  

Where there are concerns that a child or young person is being, or is at risk of being sexually exploited 
there will be an assessment undertaken by Children’s Social Care. If the assessment identifies that the 
concerns are serious and a coordinated, multi-agency response is required then A CSE Strategy 
meeting will be convened.  

CSE strategy meeting involve social care, the police The CSE Coordinator, health, education and any 
other involved professional. Parents and young people are encouraged to attend these meetings, or at 
least part of them.  

Protect and Respect is a service that is delivered in Nottingham City by the NSPCC, who also fund the 
service. The service works with individual young people and their families where there are concerns 
about sexual exploitation.  

Page 11



 

 

The Multi-Agency Sexual Exploitation Panel (MASE) is a multi-agency forum chaired by the Director 
of Children’s Integrated Services. The MASE provides a quality assurance function for work undertaken 
in relation individual young people and correlates information to identify risks associated with possible 
perpetrators and locations of concern. The MASE has representation from key groups/sectors including 
Police, education, health (both public health nurses and sexual health services), Children’s Social Care, 
Targeted Support services, the Youth Offending Team, Early Help and Community Safety colleagues, in 
order to ensure that the full range of community safety measures are considered.   

Concerns Network Meeting The concerns network meeting is chaired by police and the NSPCC, it is a 
bi monthly multi agency meeting where pieces of ‘soft’ intelligence are shared to gain a bigger picture of 
CSE across Nottingham City ultimately to disrupt CSE activity. 

We have also have a CSE Coordinator Post. The CSE Coordinator also manages the small team based 
in the City Council that lead on return interviews for young people reported as missing. Her analysis of 
Return Interview’s has allowed us to identify vulnerable young people who otherwise would not have 
been visible within the system and make connections between young people, locations and possible 
perpetrators. The Coordinator also leads multi-agency work in relation to children who sexually harm.   

Child Sexual Exploitation Cross Authority Group (CSECAG) Nottingham City Safeguarding Children 
Board has a specific sub-group that focuses on sexual exploitation. This a joint group with 
Nottinghamshire Safeguarding Children Board.  The group leads on the development of multi-agency 
policy and practice. 

We recognise that victims of CSE can sometimes find it hard to recognise that they are being abused, or 
are at risk of becoming so. For this reason a key focus of our strategic response to CSE is awareness 
raising. We recognise that there are different target audiences that require different approaches and 
have tailored our approach accordingly  

 Awareness raising in the community 

 Awareness raising for those who work with children, young people and their families  

 Awareness raising for other sectors   

Voice of the child  

In February 2016 we conducted a workshop in partnership with the NSPCC called ‘Have Your Say’ with 
young people who had been involved in CSE. They came together to give their views about services. 
The findings from the workshop have been shared at the MASE panel and assist with future planning of 
work and how interventions are delivered with individual children and groups. 

At an operational level young people are supported to attend strategy meetings and be involved in the 
planning for their own safety.   

What’s happening regionally? 

The City Council has played a leading role in the development of regional standards for the response to 
sexual exploitation across the East Midlands. The standards cover  

 Accountability for all safeguarding and strategic co-ordination 

 Multi-agency strategic planning 

 Partnership and information sharing for identification and assessment 

 Coordination of multi-agency strategic groups 

 Intervention and service delivery  

Page 12



 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

21 NOVEMBER 2017 

NOTTINGHAM CITY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL 

REPORT 2016/17  

REPORT OF HEAD OF LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE 

 
1 Purpose 
 
1.1 To consider the work of the Nottingham City Safeguarding Children 

Board during 2016/17. 
 
 
2 Action required 
 
2.1 The Committee is asked to use the Annual Report and discussions with 

the Independent Chair of the Board to review the work and effectiveness 
of the Nottingham City Safeguarding Children Board during 2016/17. 

 
 
3 Background information 

 
3.1 It is a statutory requirement that the Nottingham City Safeguarding 

Children Board produce an Annual Report on the effectiveness of child 
safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children in the area.  It aims 
to provide a transparent assessment of the performance and 
effectiveness of the Board and work to keep children and young people 
safe. 

 
3.2 Every year, the Independent Chair of the Board presents its Annual 

Report to this Committee to enable it to undertake its scrutiny role in 
relation to the effectiveness of safeguarding arrangements for children 
and young people in the City. 

 
3.3 A copy of the Annual Report is attached and the Independent Chair, 

Chris Cook, will be attending the meeting to present the report. 
 
 
4 List of attached information 
 
4.1 Nottingham City Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17 
 
 Briefing on the Nottingham City Safeguarding Children Board Annual 

Report  
 
 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 

5 Background papers, other than published works or those 
disclosing exempt or confidential information 

 
5.1 None 
 
 
6 Published documents referred to in compiling this report 
 
6.1 None 
 
 
7 Wards affected 
 
7.1 All 
 
8 Contact information 
 
8.1 Jane Garrard, Senior Governance Officer 
 jane.garrard@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 0115 8764315 

Page 14

mailto:jane.garrard@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


 

 

Child Sexual Exploitation  

Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee November 2017 

Background 

The role of the Nottingham City Safeguarding Children Board is to: 

 coordinate what is done by everyone on the NCSCB to safeguard and promote the welfare 
of children in the area 

 Provide scrutiny to and for ensuring the effectiveness of that work across the partnership.  

 Publish policies and procedures for child protection in our area. 

The NCSCB has a statutory duty to prepare and publish an Annual Report, which describes how our 
partners safeguard vulnerable children and young people. The Annual Report 2016/17 demonstrates the 
extent to which the functions of the Nottingham Local Safeguarding Children Board, as set out in the 
national statutory guidance ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children’ (March 2015) are being effectively 
fulfilled. 

The report is being presented to Scrutiny Committee to share as part of the wider dissemination 
process.  

Report Content  

Part 4 of the report highlights some local data about Nottingham and provides a local context for our 
work. 

Part 5 describes the local governance arrangements and structure of the NCSCB and links to the 
strategic partnership across the city 

Part 6 highlights some of the achievements and the progress that has been made in the last year 

Part 7 shows reports from agencies across the safeguarding partnership and provides an overview of 

sub-group activity. 

Part 8 identifies the priorities the NCSCB will take forward into 2017/18. 

. 

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Nottingham City Safeguarding Children Board 

                                                                                                       Annual Report 
   2016 / 2017 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                A family day out at Nottingham Castle by pupils at Seeley Primary, Nottingham  

P
age 17



2 
 

Contents 
 

1. Foreword by Independent Chair ................................................................................. 3 

2. Introduction ................................................................................................................. 4 

3. Executive Summary .................................................................................................... 5 

4. Local Data ................................................................................................................... 6 

5. Governance and Structure.......................................................................................... 8 

6. Achievements against 2016/17 Priorities ................................................................. 10 

7. Partnership Reports and Subgroup Reports  ........................................................... 11 

8. Future Priorities ........................................................................................................ 44 
 

P
age 18



3 
 

1. Foreword by Independent Chair 
Welcome to the third Annual Report published since I became the 

Independent Chair of the Nottingham City Safeguarding Children 

Board (NCSCB). The last year has shown progress for the 

NCSCB evidenced by the rigorous Ofsted inspection in February 

2017, which graded Childrens Services as “Good” overall. 

 
The inspection has highlighted the continuing progress made by the 

partnership. This is a journey that we have all been on for some 

years now and one that will not end as we strive to improve the life 

experiences and life chances for all the children and young people 

of Nottingham City. The NCSCB will continue to show leadership, 

provide challenge and scrutiny to partner organisations. 

 

In my time as Independent Chair, I am encouraged and impressed 

by the dedication and commitment I see from the workforce, which 

has continued through the very demanding financial climate in 

which we find ourselves. Despite the challenges that we all face in 

these times of austerity the determination to provide the very best 

for the citizens of Nottingham has not wavered and I to share this 

determination to constantly improve. 

 

This annual report provides local people with an account of the 

NCSCB’s work over the past year to improve the safeguarding 

and wellbeing of children and young people across Nottingham. 

This report reflects the activity of the NCSCB and its sub-groups 

against the Business plan for 2016/17.  

It was very encouraging to see that OFSTED saw the ‘voice of    

the child’ was a strength in our assessments and plans. This has    

 

been and continues to be a key priority for the NCSCB. 
 

I would like to thank all partner agencies for their continuing hard 

work and dedication during a time of increasing demand and 

reducing resources that helps us to improve the outcomes for all of 

our children and young people.  

 
I would like to thank the Portfolio 

Holder for Children's Services, Early 

Intervention and Early Years for his 

hard work, 

dedication and 

for bringing 

another layer of 

independent 

scrutiny to the 

work of the 

NCSCB. 

 

 

Chris Cook 

NCSCB 

Independent Chair 

P
age 19

http://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/mgExecPostDetails.aspx?ID=283
http://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/mgExecPostDetails.aspx?ID=283


4 
 

2. Introduction 
Nottingham City Safeguarding Children Board has a statutory duty 

to prepare and publish an Annual Report, which describes how our 

partners safeguard vulnerable children and young people.  

The role of the NCSCB is to: 

 coordinate what is done by everyone on the NCSCB to 

safeguard and promote the welfare of children in the area 

 Provide scrutiny to and for ensuring the effectiveness of that 

work across the partnership.  

 Publish policies and procedures for child protection in our 

area. 

 
Part 4 of the report highlights some local data about Nottingham 

and provides a local context for our work. 

 
Part 5 describes the local governance arrangements and 

structure of the NCSCB and links to the strategic 

partnership across the city 

 
Part 6 highlights some of the achievements and the progress that 

has been made in the last year. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Part 7 shows reports from agencies across the safeguarding 

partnership and provides an overview of sub-group activity. 

 

Part 8 identifies the priorities the NCSCB will take forward into       

2017/18. 

 

The Annual Report 

2016/17 demonstrates 

the extent to which the 

functions of the 

Nottingham Local 

Safeguarding Children 

Board, as set out in the 

national statutory 

guidance ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children’ (March 2015) 

are being effectively fulfilled. 

 

 

 
 

  

P
age 20



5 
 

3. Executive Summary 
 

The overall assessment of this report is that the work of Nottingham 

City Safeguarding Children Board was compliant with its statutory 

and legal requirements. The Partnership have continued to work 

together to assess the effectiveness of safeguarding arrangements. 

 

The Board ensures that relevant partners’ plans and strategies for 

keeping children safe are monitored so that planning processes and 

stronger links are being developed. There have been demonstrable 

achievements over the past year. 

 

OFSTED undertook a rigorous inspection of Childrens Integrated 

Services in January/February 2017. Inspectors judged services to be 

good overall. The voice of the child is a key strength across our 

services and they found the Directorate to be a place where good 

and outstanding practice can flourish.  

 

The continued development of the Childrens Integrated Services 

multi-agency front door is identifying children who require early help 

or targeted services in a timelier manner. Demographic information of 

Nottingham City continues to highlight some of the challenges within 

the area, such as the continuing levels of deprivation. 

 

The report also addresses the NCSCB function to quality assure 

practice, through audit, and identifying areas for learning and 

improvement. During 2016/17 Nottingham City Safeguarding 

Children Board have commissioned one Serious Case Review and 

concluded work with another Local Authority in respect of an SCR. 

 

There was an Inspection of the Youth Offending Team (YOT), which 

gave a very encouraging picture of an ‘overall high-performing YOT 

with practitioners who are enthusiastic, knowledgeable and inclusive in 

their work.  

 

The NCSCB has undertaken a range of audits during 2016 to 2017 to 

continue to assess and quality assure safeguarding arrangements 

within Nottingham.  These allowed us to look at the impact of our 

improvement work on the lives of individual children and young people.  

 

The NCSCB has built strongly on its engagement strategy with all 

partners throughout the year with a particular success being the 

collaboration between Nottingham City Clinical Commissioning Group, 

Nottingham City Childrens Integrated Services and the NCSCB who 

co-funded the widely acclaimed animation on rethinking “did not 

attend” to “Was Not Brought”. 
 

 

 

 

P
age 21



6 
 

4. Local Data  

 
 Nottingham City is a unitary authority comprising of 20 

wards. It has a young and ethnically diverse population, 
covering an area of approx. 75 square kilometers. The 
University of Nottingham and Nottingham Trent University 
are both located in the City. 

 

 

 

 

 In 2016, there were an estimated 325,300 people living in 
Nottingham City of these 37,100 are aged under 18. 

 

 Population projections suggest that this may rise to around 
332,700 by 2024.International migration (recently from 
Eastern Europe) and an increase in student numbers are 
the main reasons for the population growth since 2001, 
together with the excess of births over deaths. 

 

 There are an estimated 37,000 University Students in 
Nottingham.  

 

  Despite its young age-structure, Nottingham has a higher 
than average rate of people with a limiting long-term illness 
or disability. 

 

 Nottingham is ranked the eighth most deprived district in 
England out of 326 local authorities in the 2015 Indices of 
Multiple Deprivation (IMD), a relative fall from 20th in the 2010 
IMD. 

 

 62.7% of children in Nottingham live in low-income/workless families compared to rates of 46.9% in Greater Nottingham and 41.9% in England.  
Data source: Office for National Statistics (ONS)

Click here for more 
 

P
age 22

https://www.nottinghaminsight.org.uk/


7 
 

Local Safeguarding Data 2016/17  

 

545 children were subject to a Child 

Protection Plan (82 per 10,000 population 

Aged 0-18). 
 
 
1.7%. The percentage of Child Protection Plans that 

lasted two years or more  

 
97% of Child Protection reviews take place within timescales. 

 
Neglect was again the most frequent reason for children being 

placed on a Child Protection Plan in 2016/17. 

 
38% of children aged under 5 who were made subject of a Child 

Protection Plan were made so due to concerns including neglect. 

 
Domestic abuse continues to be the 

main parental risk factor leading to 

children becoming subject of a Child 

Protection Plan 

 

95% of practitioners are aware of how the NCSCB Safeguarding 
Children procedures relate to their work 

 
616 children in care at the year-end 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2000+ Taxi drivers in the city have completed safeguarding training 

 
672 practitioners from across the safeguarding partnership attended 
the NCSCB “Every Colleague Matters” events on “Empowering the 
Workforce to deliver Excellence in Safeguarding Practice” 

 
2216 practitioners from across the 

partnership were reached following a Child 

J learning event.  

 

Double click to view video (Double click to view video.MOV)
 

 

86% of practitioners are very confident/confident in using the signs of 
safety approach 
 

556 cases discussed at a Multi-Agency Risk 

Assessment Conference (MARAC). 

 

 
Graph shows increase in NCSCB web traffic over the year

545 
Subject to a plan 

down from previous 

year 548 

P
age 23



8 
 

5. Governance and Structure 

Local Safeguarding Children Board 

Each local area is required by Law to have a Local Safeguarding 

Children Board. The LSCB is a statutory body established in 

legislation (Children Act 2004) and works according to national 

guidance ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015’. 

 
The Nottingham City Safeguarding Children Board is chaired by an 

independent person and meets quarterly. 

The Independent Chair also chairs the Business Management Group 

(BMG) and membership is comprised of the Local Authority, the 

Clinical Commissioning Group, and Police, chairs of the subgroups 

and board officers and meets quarterly. 

 

The functions of the LSCB are: 

 To develop policies and procedures for safeguarding 

and promoting the welfare of children in the local area 

 To establish a culture of learning and 

Improvement across the partnership. 

 To monitor and evaluate the effectiveness and impact of 

services provided by the local authority and Board 

partners through the use of sub-groups of the Board 

and other mechanisms.  

 To participate in the planning of services for children 

in the area of the authority 

 To conduct reviews of serious cases and advising the 

local authority and their Board partners on lessons to 

be learned 

The governance arrangements form the formal agreement 

between the Board and all partner agencies. It outlines 

accountability; key purposes; functions and tasks; membership; 

and agreed standards and expectations of NCSCB members. 

 
The Children and Social Work Act received Royal Accent in April 

2017 and sets out a new framework for improving the organisation 

and delivery of multi-agency arrangements to protect and 

safeguard children. In Nottingham the Business Management 

Group will monitor, develop, and progress local arrangements and 

future safeguarding models throughout 2017/18. 

 

 

  

 

 

 
"We will ensure that safeguarding 
practice, strategic planning and 

commissioning across all partner 
agencies continuously improves 
as a result of NCSCB activity, 

with the aim of improving 
outcomes for children, young 

people and families." 
NCSCB 

P
age 24



9 
 

Working across the Partnership 

The NCSCB has arrangements in place in order to co-ordinate its 
work with other partnership Boards in the City including the 
Childrens Partnership Board, the Health & Wellbeing Board, the 
Safeguarding Assurance Forum and the Crime & Drugs Partnership, 
The Prevent Steering Group, the Domestic and Sexual Violence 
Strategy Group and Female Genital Mutilation Board report into the 
Safeguarding Children Board and also provides information to the 
Safeguarding Adults Board.   

 

These are some examples of work across the partnership 

 Health and Wellbeing Board - 

 Is a partnership bringing together key 

local leaders from the City Council, 

NHS and the wider community to 

improve the health and wellbeing of 

the population of Nottingham and 

reduce health inequalities. 

 Childrens Partnership Board  –  

Is a partnership of local organisations 

working together to deliver a joint 

approach to improving outcomes for 

children, young people and families.  

Partners include the City Council, NHS 

bodies, Crime and Drugs Partnership, 

Nottinghamshire Police, Nottingham 

and Nottinghamshire Futures, Job 

Centre Plus, Probation Service, 

Nottingham Safeguarding Children 

Board, schools and young people.  

The Board is responsible for the 

development and implementation of the 

Children and Young People’s Plan. 

 Nottingham Crime & Drugs Partnership - 

(CDP) is a multi-agency organisation 

responsible for tackling crime and 

substance misuse in Nottingham. It is made 

up of a number of statutory and non-

statutory agencies including the Police, 

Nottingham City Council, the Fire and 

Rescue Service, the National Probation 

Service and the Community Rehabilitation 

Company, Public Health and the Clinical 

Commissioning Group, Nottingham Trent 

University and Nottingham City Homes.  – 

Tackles crime, disorder, substance misuse, 

anti-social behavior and to reduce re-

offending. 

 

 Nottingham LSCB will continue to engage and challenge 

these partnerships where appropriate to safeguard and 

promote the welfare of children in County Nottingham. 

 

 More Information: Click here to find out more information about 

the NCSCB 

 

P
age 25

http://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ncscb


10  

6. Achievements against 2016/17 Priorities 

 
The priorities of the NCSCB were to; 

 

 Promote, monitor, coordinate and evaluate multi-agency 
effectiveness in safeguarding children and young people 
across the child’s journey 

 

 Strengthen and support a competent and equipped workforce 
that is committed to learning and developing safeguarding 
practice with assurance that safeguarding is everyone’s 
responsibility. 

 

 To evidence the impact of NCSCB  

 

Achievements; 

 The SCR SP have been instrumental in developing responses 
to reviews that actively seek to engage with the frontline 
workforce. 

 Leading and promoting an Every Colleague Matters event 
dedicated to Safeguarding. 

 We have a workforce with an increased understanding of and 
recognition of risk associated with medical neglect. 

 

 Workforce survey issued to engage with wider workforce on 
their relationship with the Board, safeguarding issues and 
arrangements for supporting children and families  

 

 Trained over 2000 taxi drivers in safeguarding.  

 Changing Culture by making an animation - the shift from DNA 

to ‘Was Not Brought’. This has been one of the most 

successful campaigns led by the NCSCB1 in recent years 

receiving National and International recognition and has been 

viewed in excess of 16,000 across a variety of platforms. 

 

 

 Click here to view 

The Quality Assurance Sub - Group completed audits on Child 

Sexual Exploitation, out of hours referrals to Children’s Social care, 

quality of plans for cases where the concern was physical abuse and 

medical neglect. 

 Developed the use of newsletters from the NCSCB, which share 
important safeguarding information every two months with the 
partnership. Over 2700 people now subscribe to this. 

 

Example of NCSCB newsletter 

 

                                                
1
 Jointly funded by the NCSCB, Nottingham City Council and NHS  Nottingham City Clinical Commissioning 

Group 

P
age 26

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=dAdNL6d4lpk
https://content.govdelivery.com/accounts/UKNCC/bulletins/187a909


11  

7. Partnership Reports 

Children’s Integrated Services  

 

 During the course of 2016/17, there have been two inspections of 
the work the directorate does to safeguard and support children and 
families in Nottingham.   

 

 Pilot Ofsted Inspection   

 

 This took place in January/February 2017. Inspectors judged 
services to be good overall and good in all areas other than support 
for children in care, where we were judged to require improvement. 
This requires improvement judgement was a consequence of 
inspectors feeling that more effort was required to engage with a 
small number of care leavers who had stopped working with the 
Leaving Care service. Although not formally graded in the 
inspection Early Help services were described as outstanding.  
Some of the key messages from this inspection were  

 

 The voice of the child is a key strength across our 
services 

 Children live with careers who are proud and ambitious 
for them. 

 Children’s assessments are consistently good leading to 
meaningful plans 

 The Directorate is a place where good and outstanding 
practice can flourish 

 Children's emotional needs are regularly considered, 
supported by CAMHS and Targeted Support 

 

  

 

 Inspection of the Youth Offending Team (YOT) 

 

 In summary the outcome was an ‘overall high-performing YOT with 
practitioners who are enthusiastic, knowledgeable and inclusive in their 
work to maximize positive outcomes’ YOT workers engage well with a 
wide range of colleagues and are effective at removing barriers to 
engagement  There is an innovative  approach to management 
oversight and consistent effective engagement with children and their 
families.  

 

Key achievements  

 

 The Integration of the CAMHS Single Point of Access with 
specialist CAMHS provision into our Children and Families 
Direct hub 

 Significant successes at the edge of care – 90% success rate 
in Edge of Care Hub and 416 children supported by MST 
Standard. 

 Ofsted judges all of our internal residential provision good or 
better.  

 Three Locality Youth Council Events led by colleagues in Play 
& Youth. 30 young people have been involved with hosting, 
delivering and leading these activities 

 Developing a group work programme to offer support to 
parents and carers. Our retention rate in 2016/17 was 77% 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 27



12  

Nottingham City Clinical Commissioning Group 
 
Summary of safeguarding activity 
 

1) What the agency planned to do and what we did 

During 2016/17, the CCG planned to focus on the following 
risk and challenges: 

 

 Discharge of Statutory Duties and Functions for 

Safeguarding 

Nottingham City CCG delivered its statutory functions in 
relation to safeguarding children as detailed within “Working 
Together to Safeguard Children” (March 2015) and 
“Safeguarding Vulnerable People in the NHS – Accountability 
and Assurance Framework” (April 2015)  

 

 Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence  

Domestic Abuse continues to be a risk feature in Nottingham 
City. The DART process continues to share information with 
key health providers particularly with Primary Care/GP 
practices. The CCG have continued engage with the 
Domestic Abuse Referral Team (DART) and in relation to 
matters regarding the appropriate exchange of information to 
Primary care following incidents and subsequent 
assessments reflecting some of the findings from Domestic 
Homicide reviews. The CCG has continued to engage with 
key partners in the development of the Sexual Violence 
Action Network (SVAN) and the development of a strategy to 
address this harm. 

 

 Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 

The CCG’s Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children 
continues as he representative on the cross authority sub 

group ensuring key messages and requests for details are 
disseminated across the health partnerships in the City. The Joint 
Nottingham /Nottinghamshire Safeguarding Group (health group 
for Named and Designated Professionals) is the primary vehicle 
for discussion on CSE matters specific to health and enabling the 
Designated Nurses to take key issues back to the subgroup.  

 

 Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) 

The CCG continues to support all areas of the Health Community 
required to report on FGM. The Designated Nurse has ensured 
resources and training materials are cascaded to all relevant 
areas and is a member of the FGM sub-group of the Board. The 
CCG supported the cascade of letters to key health areas in 
relation to the increased risk of FGM during the defined period of 
time during summer period. It was raised to the CCG about the 
need for a specialist provision due to the Specialist midwife noted 
in previous reports leaving post.  Information Systems 

The Child Protection Information System (CP-IS) has continued to 
raise challenges in progressing towards embedding the system 
across organisations and therefore being able to “go live”. This 
remains a national issue and locally NHS Nottingham City CCG 
continues to record this risk on its risk register but anticipates the 
risk is reducing due to the controls and actions in place. The 
action plan previously reported has been revised to incorporate 
the issues relating to a delay in “go live” and the Project Lead 
remains available to the full implementation process. The 
commitment to successful implementation by all health and social 
care partners in Nottingham City remains. NHS England produced 
guidance to support the Designated professionals Safeguarding 
Children in ensuring the addition of the CP-IS in the NHS 
Standard Contract 2017/18 to 2018/19 is therefore promoted and 
the system is implemented.  

Information sharing via electronic systems has continued to raise 

P
age 28



13  

challenges with health systems not always compatible to 
share. Work continues to be developed on effective 
communication when sharing complex and high risk details 
and information.  

 

 Historical Sexual Abuse  

The CCG has ensured that Primary Care and Health 
providers have been alerted to the retention of records as 
requested in preparation for the Goddard enquiry. The CCG 
through senior management have engaged in the multi-
professional process of dealing with cases of historic sexual 
abuse from the cases under Operation Equinox. The previous 
pathway devised for cases which present as requiring 
individual funding remains in place.  This will be reviewed 
according to requests and the potential to consider a 
sustained provision. 

 

 Prevent 

The delivery of informing and training professionals in key 
areas of the health community in the WRAP3 training 
sessions has continued. Health Providers with high staff ratios 
have adapted the programme to include in their mandatory 
training programmes to ensure maximum impact of 
awareness is achieved. The national Prevent returns as 
advised by nationals guidance, with Nottingham classed as a 
Non-Priority area continue to be submitted to the Designated 
Nurse Safeguarding as Prevent Lead at the CCG on a 
quarterly basis. The returns contain details of staff levels, staff 
trained, referrals made to channel and other relevant activity 
which is significant to the Prevent agenda is raised. This will 
continue to be reviewed by the Designated Nurse and 
Prevent Lead within Health whilst waiting for further guidance 
from the area lead at NHS England. A revised reporting form 

has been developed in 2016/17 and further direction will be given 
to providers once available. The CCG also are represented on the 
Nottingham Prevent steering group, advised, and supported the 
request for relevant health information in relation to the Prevent 
Profile.  

 Audit and Inspection 2016/17  

Section 11 assurance tools using the Markers of Good Practice 

(MOGP) model were updated and shared with the LSCB in 

2016/17. Actions plans were devised as necessary. The 

Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children participates in quality 

reviews of services specifically reviewing safeguarding practice in 

conjunction with the CGG Quality Governance Team. All section 

11and MOGP’s updates are also shared with this team as part of 

the quality monitoring and review processors.  

During 2016/17, the CCG continue to engage in the multi-agency 
audit programme for the LSCB by reviewing GP records. When 
noted learning has been shared with the individual practice or 
noted into information sharing presented at the safeguarding 
leads meetings. 

A programme to review some GP practices has been jointly 
managed by the Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children and 
the Adult Safeguarding Practitioner and MCA Lead at the CCG. 
The findings were based on a combined audit tool incorporating 
both national and local requirements and also to explore how 
practices have updated from key learning. The dip test of 6 
practices in 2016/17 has been reviewed in the CCG Safeguarding 
meeting and will be embedded into the GP offer and therefore will 
be an annual requirement. 

The CCG in 2016/17 undertook an audit of Safeguarding Children 
and the outcome of Significant Assurance can be provided from 
the review which was based on elements of the CCG’s previous 
Sec 11 return to the NCSCB. 

P
age 29



14  

 

 Learning and Development 

GP/Primary Care learning and development continues 
through a variety of safeguarding forums. Significantly this is 
through the GP Safeguarding Leads meetings and the key 
themes discussed in 2016/17 have related to national trends. 
In 2016/17 the discussions continue to be supported by not 
only of Designated Health Professionals but from other key 
multi-agency safeguarding partners. There has continued to 
be some bespoke training requested by some practices and 
the Safeguarding team have planned a series of seminars 
and update sessions relating to specific issues that have 
arisen for specific requests, the GP safeguarding audit and 
learning from serious case reviews. Training opportunities 
have been shared with all Primary Care teams in the city. 
There remains a positive approach with the GP practices 
involved in the Serious Case and Learning reviews conducted 
in 2016/17 fully engaging in the sharing of information by 
interviews with the Designated Nurse and Named Doctor and 
participating in multi-agency Practitioner events. This positive 
approach has seen a new dimension to the learning process 
and demonstrated transparency of working in the best interest 
of the child or young person. The Safeguarding Team at the 
CCG recognise this valuable input and acknowledge learning 
time for the continuing professional development and 
revalidation of these professionals involved. 

CCG staff have been trained and updated view an e-learning 
module in Safeguarding matters relevant to the required 
training matrix. Local learning has been shared through the 
cascade of the multiagency bite size learning briefing notes 
through internal newsletters for the CCG and Primary care 
staff and to all safeguarding leads within organisations 
commissioned for the resident population of Nottingham City. 
The CCG has proactively engaged in the promotion of 

alternative learning with the animation “Was Not Brought” and in 
conjunction with the Board Office have promoted to a significant 
number of CCG’s. 

 
2) What has been the impact of that work? 

There continues to be a high priority given to the recognition of 

keeping children and young people safe when in contact with 

health agencies in Nottingham City. In primary care this continues 

to be achieved by the Safeguarding Leads meetings and the 

dissemination of learning resources and training relevant to needs 

being identified. It has been identified in 2016/17 this will need to 

be reviewed as resource constraints versus the need to ensure 

the productive development of professionals remains constant. 

The development of a Practice Nurse forum has been mapped 

and the inaugural launch will be in July 2017. The appointment of 

an Associate Designated Nurse in conjunction with the Lead 

Practice Nurse at the CCG has facilitated this development and 

fulfils an action identified in local safeguarding reviews. A further 

key development is the “Multiagency GP information exchange” 

meeting previously known as “Red Card”, which links Primary 

Care with key community health practitioners. This revision 

resulted from inspection outcomes and a review. The process has 

taken significant time to revise but the revision   highlighted a 

need to appropriate information exchanges with other 

professionals. The pilot phase will be launched in 2017 and 

embedding will be developed with any operational revisions. 

 

The CCG continue to gain assurance from quality monitoring and 

safeguarding is reflected in visits with specific questions for all 

reviews and visits. When considered appropriate this will also 

P
age 30



15  

include the designated professionals with services that have 

significant contacts with children and young people. The 

development of the GP Safeguarding tool has enhanced the 

monitoring and support in primary care and became part of 

the Primary Care offer from April 2017. 

 

The CCG Safeguarding team continue to report on activity to 

its Quality Improvement Committee. Reviews and audits are 

managed within activity and can be raised within the CCG 

Safeguarding Steering group for further discussion and 

actions to be considered.   

 

3) What agencies need to do in the future? 

The CCG will continue to review all areas of safeguarding in 

the health community of Nottingham relating to children and 

young people. The CCG will look to build further the 

development of professionals and particularly with Primary 

Care as noted in the developments in 2016/17. This has been 

enhanced following the appointment of an Associate 

Designated Nurse to assist in further driving the Safeguarding 

Agenda forward and the development of support forums and 

reacting to themes relating to developing safeguarding 

support.  

 

The CCG will continue to embed agendas of the key areas 

specifically related to safeguarding on the local and national 

agendas. This will include the review of the reporting of FGM, 

CSE and the promoting the recognition of Prevent related 

matters. 

 

The CCG will continue to participate in local and national reviews 

and ensure that the health community are engaged in the 

process. 

  

The CCG will react to the key developments and participate in 

consultations as deemed necessary to the work undertaken in 

prevention, safety, quality and protection considering the potential 

revisions following the recommendations of the Wood review.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 31



16  

Cafcass  
Cafcass (the Children and Family Court Advisory and Support 
Service) is a non-departmental public body sponsored by the 
Ministry of Justice. The role of Cafcass within the family courts is: to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children; provide advice to the 
court; make provision for children to be represented; and provide 
information and support to children and their families. It employs 
over 1,500 frontline staff.  
 
The demand upon Cafcass services grew substantially in 2015/16 
with a 13% increase in care applications and an 11% increase in 
private law applications. The grant-in-aid provided by the Ministry of 
Justice was smaller than the previous year. Notwithstanding this, 
Cafcass has met all of its Key Performance Indicators.  
 
The following are examples of work undertaken by Cafcass in 
2014/15 to promote the continuous improvement of our work and 
support reform of the Family Justice:  
 
Revision of both the Quality Assurance and Impact Framework 
and Supervision Policy which together set out the organisation’s 
commitment to delivering outstanding services, and the ways in 
which staff are supported to achieve this and the quality of work is to 
be monitored. The Framework integrates the impact of the work on 
the child into the grade descriptors so that evidence of positive 
impact is to be present, alongside compliance with the expectations 
of Cafcass and the Court, for an outstanding grade to be achieved.  
 
Implementation of the Equality and Diversity Strategy. This is a 
network of Diversity Ambassadors who support the development of 
staff understanding and skill; the holding of workshops; a themed 
audit on the impact of diversity training on practice.  
 

Extending the Child Exploitation Strategy introduced in 

2014/15 to include trafficking and radicalisation as well as sexual 
exploitation. Key elements of the strategy include: Ambassadors 
(at a service area level) and Champions at a team level to have a 
‘finger on the pulse’ of local issues and to support learning; 
training and research (including a study of 54 cases known to 
Cafcass in which radicalisation was identified as a feature).  

 
Working with a range of partners across family justice, children’s 
services and the voluntary sector. Examples include Local Family 
Justice Boards (Cafcass chairs 12 of the 46 of these), the 
judiciary, the Adoption Leadership Board and the Association for 
Directors of Children’s Services with whom Cafcass has 
developed the social work evidence template for use in care 
cases, and with whom we are developing good practice guidance 
for children who are accommodated by the local authority  

 
The development of innovations that are aimed at improving our 
practice and supporting family justice reform. These include: 
piloting the provision to our Family Court Advisers of consultations 
with a clinical psychologist; the extension of Family Drug and 
Alcohol Courts; the supporting separated parents in dispute 
helpline (a pilot across five service areas aimed at promoting out-
of-court settlements of disputes where safe to do so).  

 
Contributing to the government review of Special Guardianship 
Orders, including a small piece of research that was included in 
the government’s response to the consultation.  

 
A Service User Feedback Survey, which looked at the interim 
outcomes of children six to nine months after private law 
proceedings concluded. Specifically the survey looked into 
whether arrangements ordered by the court had sustained; how 
effective communication was between parents before and after 
court proceedings; and whether participants believed that the 
court order was in their child’s best interests.  

P
age 32



17  

 

Crime and Drug Partnership (CDP) 
 
CSE  

During 2016/17, the CDP Board has received quarterly 

reports about CSE (As required of Community Safety 

Partnerships since the publication of Louise Casey’s report 

into Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham – ‘Reflections on 

child sexual exploitation. A report by Louise Casey, March 

2015’).  

Children’s Workers in Refuges  

We lost our Children’s Workers in refuge funding which ended 

March 2017. The refuges have retained Children’s Workers 

by reducing their existing services to adult survivors  

Healthy Relationships  

Equation have delivered and continued to deliver healthy 

relationship work in schools  

Multiple Perpetrators Practice Guidance 

This has been circulated to colleagues across the city. 

STRIDE 

STRIDE continues to work with children services to increase 

confidence on work with perpetrators and survivors by co-

locating specialist workers in children and families teams. 

 

Sexual Violence Action Network 

 In December 2015, the Crime and Drug Partnership Board 

agreed that Sexual Violence should be a CDP priority for  

 

2016/2017. The SVAN was established in November 2015 and 

the aims are to focus on those offences of Sexual Violence, 

offending and Rape that appertain to adults and to ensure that 

Nottingham has an effective partnership response to Sexual 

Violence.  A rape and sexual abuse campaign will run for 2 years, 

one of the 4 elements of the campaign will include an educational 

aspect relating to consent and sexual violence with  young people 

(Sept 2017) 

 

Future events planned in 2017/18 

 

 Paediatric and adult SARC are being recommissioned  

 Rape Crisis is being relaunched as Nottinghamshire Sexual 

Violence Support in June 2017. The service to take account of 

IICSA and also support for both male and females over 13 

 HBV pathway is in development 

 APVA (Adolescent to Parent Violence) guidance is 

development 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 33



18  

CityCare 

 
Priority 1: To be assured that children and young people are 
safe across the child’s journey whilst reducing avoidable harm 
to children 
 
Safeguarding Supervision 
Summary of Work Undertaken 

 A review and transformation of the safeguarding supervision 

strategy within the organisation has taken place for children’s 

services practitioners. The purpose of this has been to ensure 

an effective safeguarding supervision strategy sustainable for 

the future. Introduction of the new model commenced in April 

2017. 

 The new model focuses on ensuring there is shared learning 

across the workforce through group supervision. In addition 

the model offers one to one supervision clinics for 

practitioners who require more specialist support with 

complex cases. 

 The one to one safeguarding clinics require practitioners to 

consider the case prior to the session using reflection and 

assessment skills to ensure the safeguarding clinic is used 

effectively and efficiently. 

 A review and transformation of the safeguarding training 

strategy has been undertaken. The new safeguarding training 

strategy supports the workforce to meet their safeguarding 

training requirements whilst ensuring they are upskilled to 

complete their safeguarding responsibilities. The new 

safeguarding training strategy meets the needs of the 

organisation ensuring sustainability for the future. 

 

 
Impact of work undertaken 

 Early feedback from staff and supervisors highlights that the 

revised approach enables improved reflection and analysis and 

transference of learning. The model benefits practitioners through 

blended learning styles promoting reflection and imbedding best 

practice. A key element of the revised model focuses on ensuring 

learning from serious incidents is embedded into practice. A 

working group is rolling the new model out to the workforce and 

plan to evaluate 12 months post implementation. 

 Select staff groups will continue to have one to one safeguarding 

supervision, for example newly qualified practitioners and 

practitioners where performance concerns have been raised. 

 
Related Actions for 17/18 

 Due to changes within the safeguarding team capacity the model 

requires further adaptation which will be implemented November 

2017.  

 The adaptions will focus on the creation of safeguarding 

champions within the CDGs who will be up skilled and equipped 

with the knowledge to deliver Think Family Safeguarding 

Supervision to the workforce.  

 The safeguarding team will focus on delivering safeguarding 

supervision clinics for complex cases where an additional 

specialist contribution is required. 

 This adaption supports our priority to embed safeguarding 

practitioners into the workforce to support the transference of 

learning and best practice. 

 
 
 

P
age 34



19  

Safeguarding training 
Summary of Work Undertaken 

 A review and transformation of the safeguarding training 

strategy has been undertaken. The new safeguarding training 

strategy supports the workforce to meet their safeguarding 

training requirements whilst ensuring they are upskilled to 

complete their safeguarding responsibilities. The new 

safeguarding training strategy meets the needs of the 

organisation ensuring sustainability for the future. 

 The model has been adapted following feedback from our 

practitioners and regulators. Key changes implemented are: 

 Effective use of E learning 

 Introduction of workbooks to ensure participants have a key 

safeguarding resource with local arrangements included. 

 Consolidation of face to face learning to streamline resources 

and ensure efficient use of the workforce’s time by offering a 

1 day training session where practitioners can complete all 

safeguarding training to meet to achieve compliance with 

statutory requirements. 

 

Impact of work undertaken 

 The new Safeguarding Training Strategy will be rolled out to 

the organisation in July 2017, this will be a significant change 

and reduction in face to face learning. .  

 The impact of the new Safeguarding Training Strategy is 

envisaged to improve compliance across the organisation and 

to improve learning for participants through interactive 

blended learning approaches. 

 The safeguarding team have completed a comparison 

exercise to explore how the e learning packages compared to 

face to face learning (adult safeguarding level 1 and MCA). The 

face to face learning time for these 2 courses was 2 hours; the 

estimated time for completion of these 2 e learning modules was 

1 hour. The results demonstrate credibility in the value of using a 

blended learning approach to embed best practice in 

safeguarding. 

 
Related Actions for 17/18 

 The new safeguarding training strategy will be fully implemented 

in July 2017 and reviewed 12 months post implementation. 

 
Advice and Support 
Summary of Work Undertaken 

 Delivery of safeguarding advice and support to CityCare staff 

continues to be a key priority for the service. 

 

Impact of work undertaken 

 The safeguarding team offer a duty service where a safeguarding 

practitioner is available to offer advice, guidance and support 

between the hours of 9-5 Monday to Friday. This is an ad hoc and 

flexible service and practitioners are not required to book a time 

slot, the purpose of the service is to ensure support and advice is 

available to practitioners at the right time and in the right place to 

support them in safeguarding children and young people. 

 In addition the service offers an out of hours advice and support 

service between the hours of 5pm and 8pm Monday to Friday. 

 Our audit relating to Safeguarding Children processes and 

escalation highlighted that 93% of staff knew how to access the 

safeguarding team with 92% of respondents stating that the 

response was good to excellent. 

P
age 35



20  

 The Safeguarding Team have developed the CityCare 

intranet safeguarding pages to support and guide the 

workforce. The pages give information on local arrangements 

for safeguarding along with safeguarding updates with links to 

policies, procedures and updates. This has been a valuable 

resource for staff to gain knowledge and awareness. 

 

Related Actions for 17/18 

 The service plan to monitor and audit the duty service to 

ensure the delivery meets the needs of the workforce. 

 
Safeguarding Standard Operating Procedures (SOP) 
Summary of Work Undertaken 

 A CityCare working group has completed the Community 

Public Health Nursing (5-19): Supporting Children through the 

Child Protection Process Standard Operating Procedure 

(SOP) 

 

Impact of work undertaken 

 This SOP provides clarity and guidance for staff regarding 

actions to be taken for children where there are safeguarding 

concerns.  

 The SOP promotes improved interagency communication and 

liaison.  The SOP outlines the procedure for assessing and 

managing health needs in children and young people where 

there is social care involvement. 

 The SOP is a mechanism for reducing potential risk and 

ensuring the children and young people we deliver services to 

are safer. 

 

 

Related Actions for 17/18 

 The SOP will be reviewed, evaluated and adapted to meet 

requirements. 

 
Safeguarding SystmOne Template 
Summary of Work Undertaken 

 A Safeguarding template for SystmOne (electronic recording 

system) has been developed and rolled out across the children’s 

workforce. 

 

Impact of work undertaken 

 The template is based on best practice in safeguarding record 

keeping; the template is complete with a link to the CityCare 

safeguarding intranet pages and the Local Safeguarding 

Children’s Board Policy and Procedures to support staff with 

information and resources. 

 The template ensures consistency in recording safeguarding 

information and ensures practitioners are prompted to analyse 

and assess the information they record. The purpose of the 

template is to improve risk assessment and increase the quality of 

safeguarding practice. 

 

Related Actions for 17/18 

 Safeguarding SystmOne template to be reviewed, evaluated and 

adapted to meet requirements. 

 
Record Keeping 
Summary of Work Undertaken 

 Bespoke record keeping training for the children’s workforce has 

been developed and is being rolled out to the children’s 

workforce. 

P
age 36



21  

Impact of work undertaken 

 This is having a positive impact in practitioner’s ability to 

assess and plan interventions. 

 

Related Actions for 17/18 

 Bespoke record keeping training to continue to be rolled out 

to the children’s workforce. 

 
Bite Size Masterclasses 
Summary of Work Undertaken 

 Bite size factsheets have been developed to share learning 

from serious case reviews these are cascaded through the 

organisation via a communication strategy to offer blended 

approaches to learning and updates for skills. 

 The safeguarding service has developed bespoke bite size 

learning modules to support the workforce through increasing 

their knowledge and understanding of local learning from 

serious incidents. 

 Bite size learning modules have been developed and rolled 

out to practitioners to build on their mandatory training and 

provide opportunity for more in depth bespoke learning 

experiences that focus on the local needs of the workforce. 

These training sessions are short and directly related to 

learning from incidents and serious case reviews in 

Nottingham. A facilitation approach and learning from real 

experience is used.  

 The most recent session took place in March 2017 and 

focused on using analysis in safeguarding practice 

 

 
 

Impact of work undertaken 

 Using a bite sized learning approach depends on delivering easily 

digestible short yet substantial content, a proven approach to 

improve learning and development. 

 

 Bite-sized learning is easier to digest, understand and remember. 

The approach makes learning more manageable and easier to 

integrate into long term memory. 

 

 By following these principles the workforce are supported in 

building knowledge and experience to improve the quality of their 

safeguarding practice. 

Related Actions for 17/18 

 The safeguarding team will continue to utilise bite size learning to 

upskill the workforce and embed learning throughout the 

organisation. 

 
Safeguarding Updates 
Summary of Work Undertaken 

 The safeguarding team have developed Quarterly Safeguarding 

updates to embed key learning from significant events. These are 

delivered to all practitioners attending the Safeguarding 

Champions forum and/or receiving Safeguarding supervision, and 

are available for all staff to access online via the Safeguarding 

Intranet pages. 

 

Impact of work undertaken 

 The safeguarding updates ensure the learning cascaded 

throughout the organisation is consistent and reflective of current 

trends and themes from serious case reviews and other serious 

incidents. 

P
age 37



22  

 The safeguarding team have implemented a communication 

strategy that is used to ensure learning is cascaded and 

embedded into practice. 

Related Actions for 17/18 

 Continue utilising the safeguarding updates and 

communication strategy to embed learning. Future plans to 

extend the role of the safeguarding champions to further their 

role in this area. 

 
Section 11 Self Assurance Framework Compliance 
Summary of Work Undertaken 

 S11 submitted June 2016  

 CityCare self-assessed as compliant in 55 out of 57 key lines 

of enquiry. Remaining 2 have partial compliance. 

 2 areas working towards  

 4.1  Level 2 training for Adults services was  introduced late 

2015. 

 9.1 Building work on going at UCC impacting on patient 

experience. Childrens area available in UCC. Paediatric lead 

in UCC - number of staff undertaking paediatrics course. 

 

Impact of work undertaken 

 Provide assurance to commissioners and the Safeguarding 

Children Board 

 

Related Actions for 17/18 

 Section 11 Self Assurance Framework to be submitted in 

June 2017, we are envisaged to have full compliance as both 

4.1 and 9.1 are now compliant. 

 
 

Safeguarding Multiagency Working across the Children’s 
Partnership 
Summary of Work Undertaken 

 The safeguarding service continue to work in partnership with 

multi-agency groups to ensure joined up working and embedded 

learning for practitioners. 

 This includes Nottingham City Safeguarding Children’s Board 

(NCSCB) Multi-agency Quality Assurance and Audit Sub Group, 

Serious Case Review Standing Panel and Local Safeguarding 

Children’s Board.  

 The Safeguarding team take an active role in the multi-agency 

audit led by the NCSCB quarterly. The learning from these audits 

comes from a true multi-agency view and is invaluable in 

identifying how we can work and learn better together across the 

partnership. This learning is cascaded throughout the workforce 

through our communication strategy. 

 In addition the CityCare’ s Named Nurse/Head of Safeguarding 

has been part of a panel of partnership representatives who 

devised, with the support of a multimedia expert, a 2 minute 

animation for professionals to prompt them to consider the 

wellbeing and safeguarding of a child when they are not taken to 

medical appointments. 

 
Impact of work undertaken 

 Developing strong and lasting relationships with partner agencies 

is fundamental to the safeguarding approach in Nottingham. 

 
Related Actions for 17/18 

 To continue with multiagency working to ensure CityCare are 

sufficiently represented within the children’s partnership. 

 

P
age 38



23  

 
Serious Incident Review Group and Learning Lessons Group 
Summary of Work Undertaken 

 A Serious Incident review group was developed by CityCare 

with the Head of Safeguarding and Lead Practitioner for Adult 

Safeguarding and MCA core members. The purpose of this 

group is to ensure learning from serious incidents is robustly 

formulated and embedded into practice. Furthermore the 

group are accountable for ensuring learning is shared across 

the organisation and is not limited to the local area where the 

serious incident occurred. Since this group was instigated, 

there has been further progress made with the addition of the 

Learning Lessons Group, this group will focus on ensuring 

key themes and learning that has been identified at the 

Serious Incident Review Group is shared across the 

organisation. The Serious Incident Review Group will be 

accountable to the Learning Lessons Group. 

 The group drives the embedding of learning throughout the 

organisation ensuring that this is done in a systematic, 

effective way, reducing fragmentation of learning. training and 

team meetings.  

 

Impact of work undertaken 

 The impact of both groups is to provide assurance to the 

organisation that findings from incidents are used to learn and 

improve future services.  

 A key focus for the organisation is to share system wide 

learning, often transferable from one service to another. 

 

Related Actions for 17/18 

 Continue to develop and implement both groups. 

 
Priority 2: To be assured that safeguarding is everyone’s 
responsibility 
 
Safeguarding Champion Network 
Summary of Work Undertaken 

 The safeguarding champions have been fundamental in 

CityCare’s commitment to ensuring learning from safeguarding 

incidents are embedded into local practices to ensure we 

safeguard individuals we care for. 

 

 The Safeguarding Champions have been recruited from the 

CityCare workforce; this includes adult’s and children’s services. 

The focus of the safeguarding champion’s forum is to develop 

knowledge, understanding and confidence around safeguarding. 

The Safeguarding Champion Network is robustly rooted in the 

principles of Think Family. The group is led by the CityCare 

Safeguarding Adult and Mental Capacity Act Lead Practitioner, 

who commits to ensuring the forum maintains a balanced focus 

on safeguarding adults, children and MCA to maximise the quality 

and value on service delivery to patients. 

 

Impact of work undertaken 

 All the Safeguarding champions have committed to team specific 

plans The Safeguarding Champions session in March 2017 

focused on considering ways to embed learning from serious 

incidents in practice  

 The Safeguarding champions were asked to identify a personal 

pledge to take back into their teams to embed key safeguarding 

priorities within their services. 

P
age 39



24  

 Development of an impact assessment exercise was set up 

for March 2017 to establish the impact the Safeguarding 

Champions have had to raise safeguarding practice 

standards and to establish where there are areas for 

improvement and development. 

 

Related Actions for 17/18 

 Champions are viewed as an integral part of embedding 

knowledge, understanding and confidence around 

Safeguarding in role modelling best practice. We have 

recently commissioned a psychotherapist and an expert in 

attachment theory, learning and development, to deliver 

supervision training to support practitioners and Safeguarding 

Champions to develop further in their role and become 

Safeguarding supervisors. We also have plans to upskill the 

Practice Teachers within the organisation to support the 

training strategy. 

 
Social Media Platforms 
Summary of Work Undertaken 

 In March 2017 Safeguarding Champions have been invited to 

join the CityCare Facebook Safeguarding group. This 

provides resources/links to safeguarding related topics. This 

is currently a closed group, but there are plans to open this up 

to the wider organisation in the future. 

 
Impact of work undertaken 

 Impact to be evaluated through the safeguarding champions. 

 

 
 

Related Actions for 17/18 

 Ongoing evaluation and review, plans for further exploration of 

multimedia platforms. 

 
Don’t Keep Mum 
 
Summary of Work Undertaken 

 The Named Nurse/Head of Safeguarding has contributed to a 

research proposal ‘Don’t Keep Mum’. This focuses on engaging 

the public in safeguarding. 

 
Related Actions for 17/18 

 Continued involvement to support the research proposal. 

 
Membership of strategic boards and sub groups 
 
Summary of Work Undertaken 
CityCare remain active members of NCSCB Strategic Board and sub 
groups 

 Training sub group 

 Multi-agency audit sub group 

 Serious Case Review Standing Panel 

 Domestic and Sexual Violence Strategy Group 

 Domestic Homicide Review Assurance and Learning 

Implementation Group 

 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 40



25  

The Children and Young Peoples Provider Network 
 
CYPPN is a forum for voluntary and community organisations. The 
network meets every 8 weeks and produces a two weekly 
newsletter.  
 
There are 218 individuals involved in the network representing 163 
Voluntary organisations working with children and young people in 
Nottingham City. 
 
All members sign up to the CYPPN framework and the CYPPN 
safeguarding pledge, which outlines our commitment to 
safeguarding children.  
 
We have a representative who regularly attends the safeguarding 
board. The rep gives an update at all CYPPN meetings - we held 
seven meetings throughout the period. He also uses the forum to 
fact find about issues that may need to be escalated further. We are 
active in the learning sub group and attending the emerging themes 
sub group.  
 
In November 2016, we committed to ensuring that network members 
received safeguarding training and that we would work with them to 
ensure that they had suitable safeguarding policies in place, which 
reflect the guidance and local procedures.  
 
In 2016 - 2017, we undertook the following actions to ensure that 
organisations were aware of their responsibilities to safeguarding 
children: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

1. Delivered introduction to safeguarding children to 57 individuals 
representing 18 organisations 
 

2. Featured 47 safeguarding updates in the CYPPN newsletter 
 

3. Promoted the director of children’s services national blogs in the 
newsletter 

 
4. Welcomed the safeguarding children’s board manager to a 

network meeting attended by 25 individuals representing 18 
organisations. The meeting was used to reinforce the need to 
report safeguarding concerns.  

 
Future Plans: 
We will continue to ensure that organisations receive regular 
safeguarding updates and that the network is used as vehicle to ensure 
that learning is disseminated.  
 
We have 10 training sessions planned and expect to train over 100 
members of the VCS workforce.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

P
age 41



26  

Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust  

 

NHCFT is a major provider of mental health, intellectual disability 
and community healthcare services for the people of Nottingham 
City and Nottinghamshire. 
 
NHCFT believes that safeguarding is everyone's business and we 
aim to uphold all adults' and children's fundamental rights to be safe 
from harm and exploitation. The Trust has a responsibility to 
promote the safety and welfare of people and families who use our 
services, including tackling domestic violence and abuse. 
 
The Trust underpins all its safeguarding work using a Think Family 
safeguarding model which is supported by its Trustwide Think 
Family Safeguarding Strategy.  The Trust has strategies in place to 
support its safeguarding priorities and every year it produces an 
annual report on its activity and achievements throughout the year.         
 
As a Trust we see about 190,000 people each year. Our 8,800 staff 
carry out a wide range of roles; working together to provide 
integrated and coordinated care and support to those using our 
services. 

 
The Trust is an active member of Nottingham City Safeguarding 
Adults Board, Safeguarding Children Board and Nottinghamshire 
Safeguarding Adults Board and Safeguarding Children Board. The 
role of the boards is to ensure that local services are effective and 
well-coordinated and that there is continuous learning and 
improvement. 
 
A key development within 2016/ 17 was the combining of 2 of the 
three divisions within the Trust. The aim of these changes was 
highlighted as:  
 
 

“Through partnerships improve lives and the quality of care.”  
 
The service model to achieve this vision has three core components: 

 self-care and prevention,  

 community and integrated care and  

 highly specialist and inpatient care.  
 
To deliver this strategy the Trust has committed to: 

 Create a new division with a new identity, Local Partnerships, to 
deliver the objectives expected of it in alignment with the Trust 
strategy; 

 Ensure the delivery of the current two divisions’ service and 
financial objectives. 
 

The Trust now has 2 divisions:  

 Local Partnerships Division  

 Forensic Services Division 

 
The integration of these services further reinforces and supports the 
Trust’s Think Family ethos and supports the Think Family safeguarding 
strategy. 
 
The Trust now sits within its second year of its 5 year Quality 
Improvement Plan which began in 2015/16 and is building upon the 
developments of the first year whilst also working with services as they 
continue to integrate and work together for the best interests of clients 
and their families and/or carers. Its 3 key priorities are: 

 Priority 1 - To demonstrate Nottinghamshire Healthcare has a 
strong integrated and sustainable culture of both safeguarding 
leadership and strategic and operational working across the Trust; 

 

 Priority 2 - To demonstrate that we are assured that safeguarding 
is everyone’s responsibility and are able to evidence that we are 
making a difference; 

P
age 42



27  

 

 Priority 3 - To demonstrate that we are assured that learning 
and improvement is raising the awareness and the quality of 
safeguarding practice and ensure that training, procedures 
and guidance support improvements in safeguarding children 
and adults. This is underpinned by a comprehensive 
governance structure within the Trust which is summarised 
below. 

 
During 2016/17 we have worked hard to implement the 
developments highlighted within our last report and align them to the 
Trust strategic priorities. 
 
We were keen to focus during this year on demonstrating how we 
make a difference in respect of safeguarding. We have developed 
our safeguarding performance reporting mechanisms and these are 
supported by the Trust divisions and overseen by the Trust wide 
Strategic Safeguarding Group.  
 
We have continued to develop strategies to implement, oversee and 
evidence developments arising from safeguarding reviews. We have 
played a prominent part in multi-agency developments, for example 
learning in respect of transitions. The Trust were asked to provide a 
lecture on this subject for the Anne Craft Trust in 2016 which 
received very positive feedback. 
 
Training 
NHCFT has an extensive training programme which was reviewed in 
2016/17 and 2 major developments were undertaken 

1. The Think Family training was changed from level based 
training to clinical and non-clinical training to acknowledge the 
competency requirements and address the confusion 
experienced by staff in respect of level requirements. This 
change also provided assurance to the CQC who felt that 
staff were not trained to the required levels. This now means 

that all clinical facing staff are trained to a minimum of level 3 
adult and child safeguarding and all non-clinical staff to a 
minimum of level 1. 

2. The safeguarding training provision was moved from within the 
divisional safeguarding team to the Trust’s Learning and 
Development department and we now have 3 safeguarding 
trainers who are responsible for ensuring we meet all our training 
requirements. Training uptake is monitored via the divisional 
safeguarding groups, the Trust wide Strategic Safeguarding 
Group and by the Trust Board. 

 
Supervision 
To ensure that we meet the safeguarding supervision 
requirements of all staff within NHCFT we have reviewed how 
safeguarding supervision is delivered to our staff, acknowledging 
their different levels of need. This review has taken place 
following an extensive research  process which included 
discussion with neighboring authorities, consultation with our 
commissioners, review of the assurance requirements for both 
adult and child safeguarding boards and a review of how and 
when safeguarding supervision is delivered within the Trust. The 
outcome of this work has been the development of a 
Safeguarding Supervision Framework which is aligned to the 
Trust’s Think Family Safeguarding Strategy. The framework has 
been signed off strategically and will undergo a period of 
implementation commencing in May 2017. 
 
Compliance 
A key area of work which supports the implementation of the 
Safeguarding Supervision Framework is around compliance. We 
have developed a Compliance Framework which is aligned to the 
CQC safeguarding standards and additionally will seek to provide 
assurance around safeguarding supervision. This was also 
ratified by the Trust wide Strategic Safeguarding Group and will 
be used to benchmark and audit safeguarding practices within 

P
age 43



28  

services. It will form part of our safeguarding audit evidence 
portfolio and help us target areas of need. 

 
Data 
As outlined in last year’s report we are developing a Quality 
Assurance and Performance Framework in an attempt to evidence 
that we are making a difference and that safeguarding developments 
within the Trust can be quantified. This dataset is overseen 
strategically and is coming towards the end of its fourth quarter; the 
aim of this process will be to provide an annual report which includes 
evidenced based data, although the project continues to face 
challenges in terms of ensuring the data collected is robust.  
 
Prevent 
Through the Prevent statutory duty, part of the Counter-Terrorism 
and Security Act 2015, the Trust maintains a “due regard to the need 
to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism.”  As such, it is 
Trust policy to safeguard and support vulnerable individuals, whether 
service users (adults or children) or staff, who they feel may be at 
risk of being radicalised by extremists, to ensure appropriate 
systems are in place for staff to raise concerns if they think this form 
of exploitation is taking place and to promote and operate a safe 
environment where violent extremists are unable to operate. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Moving into 2017/18 
As we move into 2017/18 our prime objective is to continue to embed the  
key priorities of our 5 year plan and this is further supported by the work 
undertaken to review  safeguarding supervision, develop compliance 
and evidence ‘how we make a difference’ using our quality and 
performance processes. 
 
Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust continues to 
underpin all it’s a safeguarding work using the safeguarding Think 
Family ethos, which acknowledges that staff should always be aware of 
the wider family dynamics whoever they are working with. 
 
    
.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 44



29  

Nottinghamshire Police 

 
WHAT WE PLANNED TO DO 

 

 Review the operational and strategic structure of 
Nottinghamshire Police Public Protection. 

 Conduct a peer review with Lancashire Police in support of 
that review (Lancashire Police selected for consistently good 
HMIC inspections re: - vulnerability). 

 Re-structure Public Protection to meet increased operational 
demand. 

 Improve Police participation in multi-agency meetings 

 Support the development of a Multi-Agency Sexual 
Exploitation Panel in the County & City.  

 Develop a multi-agency mechanism for identification and 
disruption of suspected perpetrators of child sexual 
exploitation.        

 Respond effectively to multi-agency CSE intelligence 
gathering (Operation Striver). 

 Pro-actively pursue offenders concerned in the proliferation 
and distribution of indecent images of children.  

 Produce and utilise a multi-agency CSE problem profile to 
identify gaps and pursue offenders. 

 
WHAT WE DID 
 

 A wholesale review of Public Protection was undertaken, 
which included a peer review with Lancashire Police. This 
resulted in the restructure of public protection June 2017. In 
summary, this entailed the amalgamation of the Domestic 
Abuse, Rape and Triage & Safeguarding Teams thus 
reducing the bureaucracy attached to existing inter-

dependencies. A Detective Chief Inspector was appointed as 
lead for adult safeguarding. Similarly, a Detective Chief  

 
Inspector was appointed lead for Children (the two posts had 
previously shared responsibilities across both areas of 
vulnerability) and given responsibility for the force Child Abuse 
Investigation Unit, the Sexual Exploitation Investigation Unit, 
Paedophile Online Investigation Team and MASH. A third DCI 
post was created designed to oversee the Management of 
Violent & Sex Offenders and MAPPA responsibilities. This role 
is also intended to improve the Forces performance in policy 
and compliance.  

 The ability of Nottinghamshire Police to meet demand in terms 
of multi-agency meetings remains a significant challenge 
however performance has improved significantly with all 
meetings receiving a response by way of report if operational 
demand undermines the Police’s ability to attend. This 
challenge has also been recognised within Public Protection’s 
re-structure and is to be addressed by the development of the 
Working Together Team. The Working Together Team hold the 
primary function of improving Police performance in this area by 
increasing the frequency with which the Police are able to 
attend. The team will consist of four member of Police staff who 
will be authorised by the Head of PP as decision makers and 
thus meet the criteria for those attending statutory meetings as 
defined by Working Together 2015. The staff have been 
selected following recruitment process and are currently 
awaiting vetting clearance prior to being appointed.  

 A MASE is now established in the City & County. It is supported 
by the Police (other than by attendance) through the Police 
maintenance of the Children at Risk of Sexual Exploitation 
(CaROSE) data set, which defines the case list at each MASE 
panel.    

P
age 45



30  

 A perpetrator data set similar in composition CaROSE is in 
development. The criteria for inclusion, removal, escalation 
and de-escalation has been agreed at a multi-agency forum 
set up for that forum co-chaired by a Detective Inspector 
(SEIU) and a senior officer from the Local Authority. An 
Information Sharing Agreement will be required for the 
Police to share perpetrator data.     

 Operation Striver continues to thrive in the City with a very 
well attended meeting and frequent intelligence 
submissions from partners. In recognition of the challenges 
presented to Police in responding to the intelligence a CSE 
Disruption Team has been established staffed by 
colleagues from the Special Constabulary. This team 
compliments the work of investigators by responding to 
CSE intelligence, which might not have previously attracted 
a Police response. The team will visit suspected 
perpetrators or adults of concern, visit suspected hotspots, 
issue CAWNS and undertake follow visits on persons 
CAWNS have been issued to.           

 Within Public Protection’s re-structure, a Paedophile Online 
Investigation Team has been established to pro-actively 
pursue indecent images of children (IIOC) offenders. 
Methodology exists which assists the Police identify 
suspects currently using the internet to procure and/or 
distribute IIOC. The pro-active use of this methodology has 
more than halved the number of active internet users 
utilising peer-to-peer networks for the sharing of child abuse 
material within Nottinghamshire.   

 
 
 
 
 
 

 The first problem profile was published in January 2017. This 
was refreshed in September 2017. The profile is multi-agency. 
It is the intention for this to define multi-agency activity via the 
identification of gaps in delivery and focus on groups and 
locations, which appear statistically vulnerable. E.g., the district 
of Forest Fields remains an area of particular concern as well 
as under reporting among boys and minority communities.  
          

 Plans are well underway for the setting up of a Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub in Nottingham City and we plan to invest 
significant numbers of staff and infrastructure to make it 
happen. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 46



31  

Nottingham University Hospitals 

 

 Safe recruitment and managing allegations against staff.  

NUH continues to operate a safe system of recruitment, which is in   
line with the NHS employment check standards.  A cross check 
against new starters entered onto our electronic staff records takes 
place monthly to ensure that a centrally held record of the DBS 
check has been retained.  

 

 Effective staff training 

The approach to delivering training has remained the same: all staff 
view (in their birthday month) a 90 minute DVD designed to equip 
them with the knowledge required for Level 1 & 2 safeguarding 
children and adults. This DVD is also supplemented for clinical staff 
with a 30-minute face-to-face adult safeguarding update. Level 3 
children’s safeguarding training continues to be delivered at face-to-
face sessions for relevant staff. Training content remains compliant 
with the Intercollegiate Competency Framework 2014 and has been 
quality assured by the local safeguarding Boards. All mandatory 
safeguarding training for the next financial year will focus on 
Prevent. Targeted Level 3 training to staff in the Emergency 
Department continues with 14 sessions delivered between April and 
March. These combined with the roll call briefings ensure staff at the 
front door are kept up to date with current safeguarding topics, for 
example, child sexual exploitation, female genital mutilation and 
domestic abuse. All sessions evaluate well. The domestic abuse 
specialist nurse delivers domestic abuse training across the Trust. 
This training has not been mandated but despite this, the take up of 
this training by clinical staff has been good and we have received an 
increased number of requests for this. 

 

 

 

 Effective supervision arrangements  

The Safeguarding Children Supervision Policy forms part of the NUH 
generic Clinical Supervision Policy. Safeguarding supervision is provided 
on an ad-hoc basis to members of staff when requested and as a formal 
debrief after a complex case. There are also specific safeguarding 
supervision sessions for specialist nurses. 

 

 Working in partnership with other agencies  

The Trust continues to be represented on Nottingham City Safeguarding 
Children’s Boards and their relevant sub-groups.  

 

 Performance management  

NUH provides CQC, Ofsted, and LSCB’s (as required by Section 11 of 
The Children Act) with evidence that it is discharging its safeguarding 
and child death reporting duties. In May 2016 the self-assessment 
‘Markers of Good Practice’ were submitted to Nottingham City and 
Nottinghamshire County Clinical Commissioning Groups and the Local 
Safeguarding Children’s Boards, who have a statutory function to gain 
assurance from provider organisations regarding the robustness of 
safeguarding systems.  

 

 Essence of Care  

Every November and December all wards score the Essence of Care 
Safety of Vulnerable Patient’s benchmark, indicators are updated to 
reflect current issues.   

 

 CQC Safeguarding and Children Looked after Inspection 
Nottinghamshire March 2016 A confirm and challenge event in May 
2016 was held by Nottinghamshire CCG. Work is underway to develop 
standard operating procedures, with good practice being shared across 
the Healthcare system. 

 

P
age 47



32  

 CCG Visit    

In November 2016, the CCG carried out its annual safeguarding 
quality visit to discuss and review safeguarding children 
arrangements in relation to adults and paediatric emergency 
departments. The CCG inspection team were given assurance that 
the Trust prioritised the safety and welfare of children with many 
quoted examples of good practice. Communication with the CCG is 
ongoing. 

 

 Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE)   

Following the confirm and challenge event NUH have been asked to 
submit an action plan to address questions raised with regard to 
CSE pathways and systems NUH have in place within the Sexual 
Health Service and ED.   

 

 Child protection Information-Sharing Systems (CP- IS)  

Project Work continues in conjunction with NUH Information 
Governance and the Nottinghamshire Project Team in regards to the 
implementation of CP-IS. This system allows staff working in 
unscheduled health care settings, for example ED, to access 
information as to whether a child is cared for by the Local Authority 
or is subject to a Child Protection Plan. Work is on going within NUH 
as to the compatibility of the ED Medway system and CP-IS.  

 

 Safeguarding Champions  

The Trust has 70 safeguarding champions, with coverage in each 
Division, including community services.  All safeguarding champions 
have clear objectives 

 

Support for Local Safeguarding Systems and Processes 

 

 Self-harm remains a significant problem for the under 18s and this 

reflects the national picture in this challenging area. The significant 
increase in the level of activity of self-harm in under 18s is reported 
through Family Health governance. A significant amount of work is 
underway to mitigate the risks with assessment tools, co-working with 
CAMHS and the Local Authority to reduce delayed discharges and 
ensure safe discharge planning along with a specific task and finish 
group within Family Health. The Children’s Hospital has received funding 
to develop a validated risk assessment tool for children with self-harm in 
the ward environment. 

 

 Safeguarding Midwifery Update  

Midwifery safeguarding activity continues to rise in both numbers and 
complexity. The highest level of concern is domestic violence, as in the 
previous year. Interagency work is evident in this area with a noticeable 
increase in the number of pre- birth planning meetings. Safeguarding 
midwifery supervision continues to be delivered.  

 

 Section 47 Enquiries and Medicals are embedded within the Children 
Act 1989 and are led by Children’s Social Care Services. NUH provide 
the service. Data is collated as part of quarterly returns. 

 

 Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) 

 FGM Prevalence Standards have been established and this data now 
forms part of the quarterly data collection and submission to 
commissioners and national sources. 

 

Impact 

 Training  

Safeguarding training is mandatory at a compliance level from April 2016 
– March 2017 of 90% for level 1, 85% for Level 2 and 83% for Level 3. 
Management are being asked to ensure staff book onto the relevant 
level of safeguarding training. 

P
age 48



33  

 

 Supervision  

Currently where staff require specialist input 100% of the requests 
are being met.  For medical staff paediatricians supervision to review 
specific cases is available via a safeguarding peer review session 
co-ordinated via the Named Doctor.  

 

 Section 47 Medicals  

There was a noticeable increase through the year with additional 
complexity in that there were more requests for assessment that 
ultimately do not take place. This issue is related to social care 
booking a medical examination but when further investigation is 
completed and advice is sought from the paediatricians a decision is 
made that a medical is not required. In addition there is a higher 
number of out-of-hours referrals, both of which impact on the 
capacity of the teams. The Local Authority have requested quarterly 
reports of this activity. NUH has redesigned the database in order to 
provide this information. 

 

 Markers of Good Practice (Section 11) 

 Overall NUH compliance was good (submission rated green).There 
are three areas rated amber and these will be reviewed and 
monitored via the Safeguarding Children’s Committee. The amber 
items were: 

- Can NUH evidence the impact of SCR recommendations on 
current practice? 

- To ensure all new starters access training within the given 
timescale  

- To ensure the organisation takes into account the views of 
fathers - this was a new measure following a recent serious case 
review recommendation.  

 

 Essence of Care (Internal benchmarking)  

The December 2016 assessment as reported to the Quality Assurance 
Committee in March 2017 achieved six out of ten indicators for good 
practice in 96.6% of wards and departments. This demonstrated a good 
knowledge of safeguarding processes across the Trust. No children’s 
areas scored Red. 

 

 CQC – Children Looked After  

NUH provide the medical input and function for this statutory service.  
Actions centred on the Initial Health Assessments undertaken by the 
paediatricians and the need to develop standardised processes with 
provider services who also deliver the service to children in care. Work 
has begun to develop standard operating procedures, good practice is 
being shared across the Healthcare system and NUH has been 
instrumental in moving forward. Both Family Health governance and the 
Safeguarding Children’s Committee are monitoring this action plan. 

 

 Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE)  

NUH has an identified CSE lead as per the NHS Quality Standard 
Contract supported by a newly formed NUH steering group. A new CSE 
risk assessment tool for staff has been implemented in sexual health 
services and ED during January 2017. This tool is to assist in more 
accurate identification of possible CSE. This is now available on the 
Trust intranet. 

 

 CP-IS  

NUH is working closely with the Nottinghamshire Local Authorities, 
Commissioners and other health providers to ensure implementation. 
Funding for a project manager has now been obtained across the health 
community and progress should now occur. 

 

 

P
age 49



34  

 Safeguarding Champions 

 In the last 12 months, the Safeguarding Champions have received 
additional training in CSE, Prevent and learning from SCRs. 

 

Future plans 

Maintain compliance and assurance for all Safeguarding standards 

 Completed markers of good practice and section 11 self-
assessment tool.  All current deadlines are being adhered to. 

 

Continue to improve and develop training methods and compliance  

 There remains a challenge, as highlighted in the update 
report and will continue to be progressed 

 

Work towards implementation of CP-IS  

 Project group established and on target with Local Authority 
requests but incompatibility issues remain as stated. 

 

Audit on NAI clinic from service users perspectives 

 This piece of work has been deferred due to the capacity of 
the team but will be revisited.  

 

Continue to improve data collection including new quarterly 
reporting process 

 Quarterly reporting continues within NUH and to the 
commissioners.  

 

Work on self-harm pathways and processes with partners   

 Task and finish group established validated risk assessment tool 
for children with self-harm in the ward environment. 

 

 

Priorities  

Learning from Serious Case Reviews learning from reviews is a priority 
for the next 12 months and aligns with the work of the statutory local 
safeguarding boards. There needs to be robust methods of 
dissemination and evaluating the impact of learning and changing 
practice. 

 

 Merger of the safeguarding adults and children’s teams the merger of 
both the adults and children’s safeguarding teams is a priority for the 
next six months. A proposed structure has been produced. 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 50



35  

Learning and Improvement Sub-Group 
 
Membership 
The Chair of the Sub-Group was the Service Manager for 
Safeguarding Partnerships, the Safeguarding Partnerships Training 
Officer, was the Board office staff member supporting the work of the 
Sub-Group.  
 
The membership of the Sub Group for 2016-17 was from the 
following partner agencies: 
Nottinghamshire HealthCare Trust 
Nottingham CityCare Partnership 
NHS Nottingham City CCG 
Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust 
Carers Federation  
Base 51 (Voluntary sector) 
Equation (Voluntary sector) 
Nottingham Community and Voluntary Service (Voluntary sector 
representing the Children and Young People Provider Network and 
the Vulnerable Adults Provider Network) 
Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue 
Nottingham City Adult Social Care 
Nottingham City Integrated Workforce Development Team 
Nottingham City Council Early Years 
Nottingham City Integrated Workforce Development  
 
 
Refresh of Learning and Improvement Sub-Group (previously 
the Training Sub-Group) 
Following the change of Chair and Board office support, the Sub-
Group members reviewed the remit and purpose of its work.  The 
Sub-Group members changed the name from the Training Sub-
Group to the Learning and Improvement Sub-Group to reflect the 
shift from focussing on delivering training to a broader remit of using 

learning to improve practice.  In addition, previously the Sub-Group was 
joint in that it covered both the Adults and Children Board.  However, 
following a review of the learning and improvement arrangements, the 
Adults Board decided to form a separate Training, Learning and 
Improvement Sub-Group to give sole focus on the learning and 
improvement arrangements of the Adult’s Board.  As such, the Sub-
Group now only reports to the Nottingham City Safeguarding Children 
Board. 
 
Development of new safeguarding training model and Learning and 
Improvement Strategy 
The learning and improvement arrangements of the NCSCB were 
reviewed in 2016.  Following an iterative consultation process with Board 
members the Learning and Improvement Strategy has been agreed.  
Previously the Board used a Training Pool model to deliver safeguarding 
training but some partners expressed concerns about their ability to 
continue committing resource to this and so the Board has agreed on a 
mixed economy model.  Central to the concept of the mixed economy 
model is that partner agencies make places on their in-house training 
courses available to colleagues from other partner agencies.  The new 
model will be implemented in line with the Safeguarding Training 
Implementation Plan and will be overseen by the Sub-Group. 
 
Disseminating learning from reviews 
In 2016 the NCSCB developed a new cascade model to disseminate 
learning from reviews to the wider workforce.  A team of multi-agency 
facilitators led on a series of workshops to encourage discussion on 
practice issues raised in recent reviews and to tease out how this affects 
practitioners, and what they can do to respond effectively.   
 
Practitioners were invited to attend the workshops with the 
understanding that they were expected to share the learning with their 
colleagues and teams back in their own agencies.   The feedback was 
very positive with participants stating that their level of confidence or 
understanding of different issues had increased, and that this was a 

P
age 51



36  

more effective way of disseminating learning.  The NCSCB will 
further embed this model as an effective way of disseminating 
learning to improve practice.  
 

1. Responding Effectively to Medical Neglect 
The new cascade model was first tested out with two seminars on 
‘Responding Effectively to Medical Neglect’ held on 1st July 2016 to 
disseminate learning from a recent Multi-Agency Review which 
looked into the death of a child in Nottingham.  61 people attended 
the ‘train the trainer’ style events and attendees were tasked with 
supporting the cascade of learning back in their own agencies.   
 

2. Child J Workshops 
The cascade model was then further piloted to disseminate the 
learning from the Child J Serious Case Review (SCR).  On Monday 
3rd October 2016 NCSCB held the first of two Workshop Days 
aimed at bringing frontline practitioners and first line managers 
together to participate in workshops to share learning and develop 
an understanding of the practice issues highlighted in the SCR. 
Participants were split into five groups, and each group rotated 
through five workshops which focussed on some of the practice 
issues raised in the SCR.  The workshops were on the following 
topics: 
• Understanding self-harm in primary age children 
• Child-focussed practice 
• Confirmatory bias 
• Recognising and understanding the impact of early trauma 
• Child-Centred Disciplinary Approaches and Assessing 
Potential Non-Accidental Injury 
 
The participants were then invited back to attend another Workshop 
Day on 21st February to reflect on the changes they made to their 
own practice following the Learning Workshop; how they shared the 
learning from the workshop with colleagues; and the impact the 
changes in practice had on outcomes for children and families.  The 

feedback from both workshops was very positive in terms of it being an 
effective way to discuss practice issues, and also in how the attendees 
had then disseminated the learning to their colleagues. 
 
Multi-agency training delivery 
NCSCB delivered a number of training courses throughout the year 
which were attended by people from across the partnership, including 
the voluntary sector.   
 
The range of courses, and number of sessions of each one, are outlined 
below. 
 

Course title No. of courses 
delivered 2016/17 

Child Sexual Exploitation 7 

Signs of Safety Awareness Workshop 3 

Rapid Response 1 

Total No. of courses 11 

 
Evaluation forms completed by those attending training, identify that they 
have significantly increased levels of knowledge and confidence in 
identifying and responding effectively to the abuse and neglect of 
children. 
 
Every Colleague Matters 
The Board office worked with Nottingham City Council’s Integrated 
Workforce Team to deliver an Every Colleagues Matters event on 
‘Excellence in Safeguarding Practice’.  The event was a series of 
sessions held between 6-10 February, and they were open to anyone 
who works within the Childrens and Vulnerable Adults Workforce in 
Nottingham.  15 sessions were delivered on a range of subjects from 
Child Focussed Practice to Early Childhood Trauma. 
A total of 672 people attended from a mixture of agencies and 96 per 
cent reviewed the training as good and excellent. 

P
age 52



37  

Safeguarding Vulnerable Passengers 
The ‘Safeguarding Vulnerable Passengers’ training programme was 
developed in summer 2015 to equip taxi drivers with the knowledge 
and skills to understand their responsibilities in relation to 
safeguarding children and adults at risk.  The programme was 
reviewed in 2016-17 and a test element of the course will be 
included to assess levels of understanding.  A requirement will also 
be made for taxi drivers to sit the course every three years. 
 
Communication and engagement  
There has been a greater focus on developing the communication 
and engagement role of the Sub-Group to ensure more coherent 
and co-ordinated communications with the workforce.  Activities in 
this area included: 

 Workforce survey issued to engage with wider workforce on 
their relationship with the Board, safeguarding issues and 
arrangements for supporting children and families  

 Developed the use of newsletters, which over 2700 people 
are subscribed to 

 Refreshed the layout and information on the NCSCB website, 
including a new video section  

 Supported the cascade of the Rethinking ‘Did Not Attend’ 
video animation.  There have been over 12,000 views of the 
video (subtitled and non-subtitled versions) across YouTube 
and vimeo, and the ‘my Nottingham’ Facebook page.   

 Developed a learning briefing on the Child J SCR, and a 
series of bite-size learning sheets on the practice issues 
highlighted in the SCR  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Safeguarding Training Quality Assurance  
The cross-authority training quality assurance scheme was reviewed and 
amended to make the process and document more streamlined.  Board 
representatives were consulted with to ensure continued commitment to 
the scheme. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 53



38  

 
Quality Assurance Sub Group  
 
Introduction 
The Quality Assurance group is a sub group of the Nottingham City 
Safeguarding Children’s Board (NCSCB). Its role and function is to - 

 Provide assurance to the NCSCB on the quality of 
safeguarding intervention for children and young people and 
the performance of agencies in carrying out their 
safeguarding function. This will include a focus on improving 
outcomes. Sub group members are expected to disseminate 
learning within their own organisations and ensure 
participation in quality assurance measures and learning 
events. 

     In order to deliver its purpose the sub group will- 

 Monitor and evaluate trends and profiling for safeguarding 
data and report this to individual agencies and the Board. 

 Develop and oversee a programme of multi -agency audits to 
assess and report on the quality of safeguarding interventions 
across Children’s Services. 

 To conduct an agreed quality assurance process of partner 
agencies safeguarding activity set against national standards. 
This will be undertaken through completion of the Sec 11 for 
the NCSCB. To analyse and report the outcomes of this to the 
Boards and partner agencies. 

 To review the impact of the implementation of Action Plans 
resulting from review processes commissioned by the 
NCSCB. 

The Chair of the group reports to the Business Management Group 
and Board. 
 
Membership and Attendance 
The QA group includes key partner agencies and it is positive that 
attendance has steadily increased during the year including new 

representation from Schools and Education, Early Help and the Police. 
 
Chairing arrangements transferred to Liz Tinsley, Service Manager, 
NSPCC, in November 2016.  
 
Summary of safeguarding activity 
The Quality Assurance Group met on 7 occasions between April 2016 
and March   2017 with 4 meetings focussing on audit activity. The audit 
programme included the following audits- 

 Child Sexual Exploitation  
             

 Out of hours referrals to Children’s Social care Emergency 
Duty Team (EDT) 

 

 Quality of plans for cases where the concern was physical 
abuse. 

                 

 Medical Neglect. 
 
Assurance was also sought from partner agencies in respect of Quality 
Assurance processes for the Common Assessment Framework (CAF). 
This was prompted by a multi -agency audit conducted in the in 2015/16 
which highlighted the need for organisations to take responsibility for the 
quality of CAFs conducted by their workforce. 
 
A planned mock JTAI was postponed due to the Ofsted Inspection of 
Children’s Services in 2017. 
 
During 2016 a performance framework/data set was agreed against 
which to manage performance and to identify trends and issues. There 
were some later challenges around this due to the introduction of Liquid 
Logic in early 2017, however,   the Head of Safeguarding and Quality 
Assurance provided regular updates to the group in respect of key data 
and an end of year report will be provided to the NSCB in June 2017. 

P
age 54



39  

Impact of that activity. 
 
During 2016/17 the QA group began to develop an impact log in 
order to capture the difference the group has made to multi-agency 
safeguarding. Examples of this include- 
 

 Development of a clear data set against which to manage 
performance. 

 Evidence of increased awareness by Health of Private 
Fostering placements (based on a Private Fostering survey 

 Increased awareness of the role of Community Health Nurses 
and capacity for safeguarding activity in Nottingham City 

 The CSE audit report indicated a lack of clarity about the use 
of the CSE Toolkit which required further attention (See audit 
programme below). 

 A case file audit tool for Schools has been developed by the 
QA Group Education representative which should achieve 
greater consistency in the auditing of education files and 
provide a useful reference point for schools. 

 The medical neglect audit provided  reassurance of the 
positive impact of the ‘Was Not Brought’ film  (Ref. SCR Child 
S) 

 The Quality of Plans audit identified the need for further work 
to be undertaken by Children’s Social Care, which was done, 
and significant improvement noted. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 Plans for the future –includes audit programme 2017/18 
 
SUBJECT  METHOD SCR/LEARNING 

REVIEW LINKS 
Comment 

 
Q1 
29 June 2016 

 
CROSS 
AUTHORITY  
Intra familial 
sexual abuse 

 
 

 
Co- ordinated 
with the County  

 
Q2 
28September 
2017 

 
Children placed 
under SGO 

 
Child J 

 
To include both 
children recently 
placed and those 
in placement for 
some time 

 
Q3 
November 2017 

 
Dip test CSE re 
toolkit compliance 

 
Linked to findings of 
earlier audit 

 
To be undertaken 
by CSE  
Co-Ordinator and 
NCSCB Officer 

 
Q3 
November 2017 

 
Mock JTAI  

 
To test JTAI process 

 
Project plan to be 
developed 
separately 

 
Q4 
25 January 2018 

 
Children who go 
missing 

 
Inspection/Children in 
Care. 

 
Focus will be 
Children in Care. 

 
Q4 
29 March 2018 

 
Working with 
complex families 

 
Child J 
Family P (C) 
 

 

 
In addition, the Quality Assurance sub-group will analyse and report the 
outcomes of future Section 11 audits to the NCSCB and partner 
agencies. 
 

Serious Case Review Standing Panel 

P
age 55



40  

 
The Serious Case Review Standing Panel (SCRSP) supports the 
statutory functions of the NCSCB as set out in Chapter four of 
Working Together 2015; and regulation 5 of the Local Safeguarding 
Children Boards Regulations  
 
The overall aim of the SCRSP is to ensure that Serious Case 
Reviews (SCR) are commissioned where they meet the criteria 
 
That lessons learned from SCRs and other types of review are; 
shared with agencies and individuals to positively influence practice, 
and improve the way in which they work both individually and 
collectively, to safeguard and promote the welfare of children.  

 
The SCRSP is a critical contributor to the NCSCB Learning and 
Improvement Framework 
 
Meetings & Membership  
The SCR SP has a monthly meeting schedule which is amended 
depending on need. During 2016/17 it met on 10 occasions. 
 
Membership 
During the 2016/17 year we have seen consistent commitment and 
attendance by all partnership agencies. Colleagues have been 
proactive in identifying representatives when they are unable to 
attend. Members have supported adherence to deadlines by 
ensuring activity is completed within their home organisations. 
Members have demonstrated the ability to professionally challenge 
colleagues appropriately. 
 
 
 

 
Activity in respect of membership: 

 

 Secured a DNLR CRC member who has been able to attend 
some of the meetings, but also act as a point of contact for the 
subgroup. 

 In February 2017, DCI Mel Bowden stepped down from her role 
as Chair of the subgroup due to changes in her role within 
Nottinghamshire Police. The Subgroup look forward to welcoming 
DCI Pete Quinn as Chair in May 2017. The subgroup would like to 
acknowledge the contribution by the outgoing Chair Mel Bowden 
in relation to successfully championing the was not brought 
animation to conclusion. 

 
Sub-group activity  
Serious case reviews 
During 2016/17 the Standing Panel have: 

 Commissioned one Serious Case Review  

 Concluded work with East Ridings, in respect of a SCR they 
commissioned on a child previously known to Nottingham City. 

 Considered two SCR referrals and not recommended SCRs 
following initial information gathering exercise. 

 
Action Plans 
In their on-going monitoring role associated with reviews, the sub-group 
have signed off three completed Action Plans (Two SCRs and one 
Learning Review). 
 
Publication 
No reviews have been published during the 2016/17 year, however there 
are two publications planned for early April 2017.  
 
Alternative reviews 
In addition, the subgroup have overseen the completion of one Learning 
Review, and they will continue to monitor actions arising from this. 
Single agency reviews 

P
age 56



41  

 
The Panel have demonstrated a challenge and scrutiny role in 
examining single agency reviews conducted by individual partner 
agencies, including requiring attendance at panel and presentation 
of findings and actions undertaken. This has included reports by  

 Nottingham University Hospital Trust  

 East Midlands Ambulance Service 

 Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 

 Nottingham City Children’s Integrated Services  
 
Participation 
All reviews have included: 

o Full engagement of practitioners involved in the case 
(meaning more immediate learning and potentially changes to 
practice) 

o Where possible involvement of family members, and inclusion 
of their views in learning events. 

 
Key pieces of work driven by the panel 
Learning and Improvement / Changing Practice - involving the 
workforce 
The SCR SP have been instrumental in developing responses to 
reviews that actively seek to engage with the frontline workforce. 
This has included: 

 The Child J workshops, and reflective learning session.  
These were supported by key senior managers who sit on the 
SCR Standing Panel. 

 Adopting a cascade model of sharing learning and changing 
practice / provision of training packs 

 Involving practitioners in shaping changes required.  
Subgroup members have again been instrumental in driving 
and monitoring this activity within their home organisation.  

 Developing tools to help facilitate team discussion and live case 
reflection (bite sized learning sheets) 

 Championing and driving the innovation of using animation to 
disseminate key messages 

 Leading and promoting an Every Colleague Matters event 
dedicated to Safeguarding. 

 Shaping and driving through required changes to the cross 
authority multi-agency safeguarding procedures 

 Developing personal statements with workers 

 Evidencing impact through the use of  live case examples; 
highlighting practice change and improved outcomes 

 
Much of this work has been possible through the development of more 
collaborative  relationships between the children’s officer and the 
learning and improvement officer.   
 
Feedback from the workforce has been positive, and there is good 
evidence of the key  learning themes being integrated into other forums. 
Below are a few examples of the evaluations from this work. 
           

Workshop day 
Influencing practice - 98% of participants agreed or strongly agreed that 
the workshop would positively influence their practice; 100% felt 
confident that they would be able to share the learning with their 
colleagues.   
 
Follow up reflective workshop 
100% of participants rated the workshop model as either ‘excellent’ or 
‘good’ which clearly demonstrates that attendees welcomed this model 
as a way to share learning and explore practice issues.  Additionally, 
respondents were given the option to comment on this question, and 
responses included the following: 

 
The main focus of these workshops was the learning arising from the 

P
age 57



42  

Child J Serious case review: 

 Recognising and understanding the impact of early 
trauma 

 Understanding self-harm in primary age children 

 Child-centred disciplinary approaches and potential 
non-accidental injury 

 Confirmatory bias 

 Child focused practice 

Information provided by participants about activity across all their 
own organisations enabled us to calculate the reach of this learning 
which is estimated to be 2216 practitioners. The reflective workshop 
created a visual image of this to demonstrate to participants. Click 
on the icon below to see this. Each sheet of paper represents 
different forums where the learning has been shared 

 
Medical Neglect 
At the end of 2015/16 the SCR Standing Panel identified medical 
neglect as a key priority for the following year. Activity undertaken in 
this area during the year has included; 
 
Two seminars on ‘Responding Effectively to Medical Neglect’ were 
held on the 1st July 2016.  In total 61 people attended. As with the 
workshop detailed above the participants were tasked with delivering 
the seminar back in their home organisation. This was successfully 
achieved, with positive feedback. See examples below. 

 
Changing Culture - the shift from DNA to ‘Was Not Brought’. This 
has been one of the most successful campaigns led by the NCSCB2 
in recent years. Work was undertaken with Gas Street Works in 
Birmingham to produce an animation highlighting the importance of 

                                                
2
 Jointly funded by the NCSCB, Nottingham City Council and NHS  Nottingham City Clinical 

Commissioning Group 

this shift in thinking and set out simply what the professional response 
should be.  This has received national attention from multiple 
organisations, professional bodies and leading academics in this area, 
for example: 

 NHS England   

 British Dental Association 

 Essex, Bedford, Derbyshire, Mid and West Wales Local 
Safeguarding Children Boards 

 National Pharmacy forum and Somerset CCG 

 Professor Jane Appleton, Oxford Brookes University 
 

Professor Appleton has invited us to be part of further development of 
her work in this field, during 2017/18. 
 
The animation has had over 12,000 views on various platforms. 
 
Assurance & Impact 
Assurance exercises – the SCR SP has continued to embed the ILOR 
framework (Impact of Learning on Outcome Rating,) as a method for 
evidencing impact on practice and outcomes.  Partner organisations are 
required to assess and award a rating (Gold/ Silver / Bronze) to the 
implementation and achievements made in specific areas identified 
through reviews.  During 2016/17 the SCR Standing Panel have 
overseen the completion of three assurance exercises, and reported the 
results to the Business Management Group.  
 
The benefits of this method is that organisations can clearly identify their 
progress in a  specific area, and develop improvement plans to 
improve their rating. Summary reports enable BMG to have an accurate 
overview of implementation and progress across the partnership.    
Impacts 
  
 
Details of the impact of the work of the SCR Standing Panel have been 

P
age 58



43  

identified throughout this report, they are also summarised below: 

 We have a workforce with an increased understanding of and 
recognition of risk associated with medical neglect. This has 
been evidenced by audit findings, including the use of medical 
chronologies, medication reviews and danger statements in 
referrals for medical neglect.  

 Through evaluation and assurance exercises. (ILOR) 

 Increase understanding and practice change in the areas of key 
learning from the child J review 

o Recognising and understanding the impact of early trauma 
o Understanding self-harm in primary age children 
o Child-centered disciplinary approaches and potential non-

accidental injury 
o Confirmatory bias 
o Child focused practice 

 Amendments to procedures have been completed where 
required. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Learning from reviews - Emerging themes for focus in 2017/18 
 

 Managing anonymous referrals 

 Understanding when opportunistic visits / unannounced visits are 
appropriate 

 Promotion of access to early help through C & F direct. 

 Understanding what promotes family engagement. 
 
Serious Case Reviews are published on the NCSCB website for a period 

of 12 months. 

 
NCSCB shall continue to implement the recommendations from 

Serious Case Reviews. 

We will lead and facilitate learning events where key messages and the 

lessons learned from the published Serious Case Reviews undertaken 

are shared with practitioners and agencies and ensure that we capture 

the impact of this. 

 
Outcomes and findings feed into our learning and improvement 

structures to promote a culture of continuous improvement across 

the LSCB.

P
age 59



 

 

8.  Future Priorities 

 
The Nottingham City Safeguarding Children Board priorities 

will include the following for 2017/18: 
 

 

Reducing 
Neglect 

• Understand Neglect – We aim to raise awareness across the partnership. 

• Early Identification – Improve the recognition and assessment of neglect 

• Provide Effective Services – Improve support to reduce the impact of neglect 

• Childs Voice – All services must consider what the child is saying when planning services.  
 
 

Learning and 

Improvement 

• Development of new safeguarding training model and Learning and Improvement Strategy 

• Disseminating learning from reviews - understanding the lessons learned and improving outcomes 

• Information Sharing – Remove the obstacles to the sharing of information 

 
 

Empowering 

Young People 

• Voice of the Child – Every child has a valued voice. 

• Support and Empower Young People in reporting abuse – to feel confident to report concerns 

• Co-production – Services to challenge themselves in genuine participation and co-production of 
services and plans with children and families. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Historical Abuse  
 
Nottingham City Council, Nottinghamshire County Council and Nottinghamshire Police are part of the Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse 

P
age 60



45 
 

that dates back to the 1950s. This work is ongoing and the Board receives regular reports regarding the progress of this work. 
 
This is an ongoing inquiry and it would therefore be inappropriate to provide detailed commentary re the current position in this annual report. An 
agreed communications strategy is in place with the most up to date information made available on the city council website.  
 

 The NCSCB priorities are based on national drivers, e.g. the development of Joint Targeted Area Inspections and the National Review of 
LSCBs and incorporate the learning from national and local Serious Case Reviews and other learning processes. Emerging issues will be 
identified in a timely manner and appropriate safeguarding measures will be in place in the partnership. 

 
The work plan for 2015/18 is focusing on the following priorities: 
 

 Self-harm practice guidance will be imbedded across the safeguarding partnership. 

 To keep children and young people safe from harm, including CSE and missing children. 

 To ensure that the response to physical abuse, neglect and medical neglect, CSE and sexual abuse is effective.  

 The Board continues to be mindful of the financial implications on its ability to deliver its statutory duties and is planning for the coming years 
due to the continuing programme of austerity.  

 To ensure that the Board operating model is fit for purpose. 

 We will revise our performance framework to ensure we are clear about the impact of Board related activity. 

 The NCSCB audits its approach to ensuring young people are supported to be safe on-line. 
 
 
The NCSCB would like to thank all partners for their dedication hard work and commitment and is looking forward to continuing to work 
as a partnership in 2016/17 in order to strive to improve outcomes for children, young people and their families.  
 
 

P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

21 NOVEMBER 2017 

SCRUTINY OF PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR EARLY INTERVENTION AND 

EARLY YEARS  

REPORT OF HEAD OF LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE 

 
1 Purpose 
 
1.1 To discuss with the Portfolio Holder for Early Intervention and Early 

Years his key priorities, progress against relevant aspects of the Council 
Plan, challenges and pressures and key objectives for 2017/18. 

 
 
2 Action required 
 
2.1 The Committee is asked to use the information provided at the meeting 

by the Portfolio Holder for Early Intervention and Early Years to inform 
questioning. 

 
 
3 Background information 

 
3.1 On 9 November 2015 the Council Plan was formally approved by Full 

Council and this guides the Council’s services and approach to support 
the delivery of its key priorities for the City over the subsequent four 
years to 2019. 

 
3.2 Overview and scrutiny has a role in scrutinising performance and 

progress against the Council Plan and therefore a programme of 
sessions with Portfolio Holders has been established.  The majority of 
these sessions are carried out by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
but the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee leads on scrutiny 
of issues within the remit of the Portfolio Holder for Early Intervention and 
Early Years. 

 
3.3 Councillor Mellen is the Portfolio Holder for Early Intervention and Early 

Years and will be attending the meeting to discuss progress against 
relevant aspects of the Council Plan; current challenges and pressures; 
and his key priorities for 2017/18. 

 
3.4 The Early Intervention and Early Years theme within the Council Plan 

sets out ambitions to achieve the following by the end of the Plan: 

 To give all Nottingham’s children the best start in life 

 Enable Nottingham’s children and young people to thrive by 
providing opportunities to utilise their energy and enthusiasm 

 
 

Page 63

Agenda Item 6



 

The key things that the Plan states will take place are: 

 Ensure that in the evening and at weekends as well as during 
school holidays there are a range of positive activities for children 
and young people to enjoy in every part of the City 

 Promote the ‘Dolly Parton Imagination Library’ scheme so that 
every child under 5 in Nottingham receives a free book monthly 

 Work with the parents of 4,500 children to create new services for 
babies and toddlers in the Big Lottery funded ‘Small Steps, Big 
Changes’ programme 

 
 
4 List of attached information 
 
4.1 None 
 
 
5 Background papers, other than published works or those 

disclosing exempt or confidential information 
 
5.1 None 
 
 
6 Published documents referred to in compiling this report 
 
6.1 Nottingham City Council Plan 2015-2019 
 
 
7 Wards affected 
 
7.1 All 
 
 
8 Contact information 
 
8.1 Jane Garrard, Senior Governance Officer 
 jane.garrard@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 0115 8764315 

Page 64

mailto:jane.garrard@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

21 NOVEMBER 2017 

WORK PROGRAMME 2017/18 

REPORT OF HEAD OF LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE  

 
 
1.  Purpose 
 
1.1 To consider the Committee’s work programme for 2017/18 based on areas of 

work identified by the Committee at previous meetings and any further 
suggestions raised at this meeting. 

 
 
2.  Action required  
 
2.1 The Committee is asked to note the work that is currently planned for the 

municipal year 2017/18 and make amendments to this programme as 
appropriate. 

 
 
3.  Background information 

 
3.1 The purpose of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is to 

provide robust scrutiny of issues and services relevant to the wellbeing and 
safeguarding of children and young people, in the light of recommendations 
from the Council’s Ofsted Inspection April 2014, and the Jay and Casey 
Reports (Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham).   

 
3.2 The Committee is responsible for setting and managing its own work 

programme to fulfil this role.   
 
3.3 In setting a programme for scrutiny activity, the Committee should aim for an 

outcome-focused work programme that has clear priorities and a clear link to its 
roles and responsibilities.  The work programme needs to be flexible so that 
issues which arise as the year progresses can be considered appropriately.   

 
3.4 Where there are a number of potential items that could be scrutinised in a given 

year, consideration of what represents the highest priority or area of risk will 
assist with work programme planning.  Changes and/or additions to the work 
programme will need to take account of the resources available to the 
Committee. 

 
3.5 The current work programme for the municipal year is attached at Appendix 1.   
 
 
4.  List of attached information 
 
4.1 Appendix 1 – Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 2017/18 Work 

Programme  
 
 
 

Page 65

Agenda Item 7



 

5.  Background papers, other than published works or those disclosing 
exempt or confidential information 
 

5.1 None 
 
 
6.   Published documents referred to in compiling this report 
 
6.1 Reports to and minutes of meetings of the Children and Young People Scrutiny 

Committee during 2017/18 
 
 
7.  Wards affected 

 
7.1 All 
 
 
8.  Contact information 

 
8.1 Jane Garrard, Senior Governance Officer 

Tel: 0115 8764315 
Email: jane.garrard@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 

  

Page 66

mailto:jane.garrard@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


 

 

Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 2017/18 Work Programme  

Date Items 

 
20 June 2017 

 

 Edge of care services 
To review the effectiveness of ‘edge of care’ services in preventing children and young people 
entering the care system 
 

 Support for unaccompanied asylum seeking children and Dublin III Unified Families 
 

 Work Programme 2017/18 
 

 
18 July 2017 

 

 Post OFSTED improvement journey 
To hear from three schools about their progress, their improvement journey and what support 
they require to enable them to be successful. 
 

 Regional Schools Commissioner for East Midlands and Humber 
To speak to the Regional Schools Commissioner about their role in contributing to achieving 
the City’s ambition that all schools will be good or outstanding 
 

 Update on Education Trust 
To receive an update on the work of the Education Trust 
 

 Work Programme 2017/18 
 

 
19 September 2017 

 

 OFSTED report on safeguarding services  

To scrutinise action being taken to address areas identified for improvement by OFSTED. 

 

 Care leavers 

To review how effectively young people leaving care are supported 

 

P
age 67



 

 

Date Items 

 Social worker caseload and retention 

To review the effectiveness of action taken over the last year to appropriately manage social 

worker caseloads and improve social worker retention 

 Work Programme 2017/18 
 

 
21 November 2017 

 

 Nottingham Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17 
To consider the Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report and review performance and 
impact of the Board during 2016/17; and identify any issues arising relevant to the 
Committee’s future work programme. 
 

 Child Sexual Exploitation update 
To receive an update on work to tackle child sexual exploitation in the City  

 

 Scrutiny of Portfolio Holder for Early Intervention and Early Years 
To scrutinise the performance of the Portfolio Holder for Early Intervention and Early Years, 
with a particular focus on delivery against relevant Council Plan priorities 
 

 Work Programme 2017/18 
 

 
19 December 2017 
 

 

 Scrutiny of Portfolio Holder for Business, Education and Skills (with respect to schools 

priorities within the Council Plan)  

To scrutinise the performance Portfolio Holder for Business, Education and Skills, with a focus 
on delivery against school priorities Council Plan 
 

 School Exclusions 
To review levels of permanent exclusions from schools in Nottingham and the education 
provision and support available for children and young people permanently excluded from 
school.  
 

 Education for vulnerable children 

P
age 68



 

 

Date Items 

To review education provision for the most vulnerable children, including the ‘virtual school’ to 
ensure that all children are receiving good quality education 

 

 Elective home education 
 

 Work Programme 2017/18 
 

 
16 January 2018 
 

 

 2017 Academic Attainment 
To review academic attainment for the 2016/17 academic year 
 

 Recruitment and retention of teachers 
To review the effectiveness of action taken to improve the recruitment and retention of 

teachers 

 Place planning and admissions 
To review the Council’s approach to planning school places and managing the school 
admissions process 
 

 Work Programme 2017/18 
 

 
22 March 2018 
 
 

 

 Support for Care Leavers  
To scrutinise progress in implementing the national ‘Keep on Caring’ Strategy and 
development of a Local Offer for Care Leavers 
 

 Poverty/ deprivation (title tbc) 
 

 Work Programme 2018/19 
 

 

To schedule  

P
age 69



 

 

 
Visits 
 
 
Informal meetings 

 Briefings for the Chair with Portfolio Holders on current and emerging issues 
 
 
 
 
Items to be scheduled for 2018/19  
 

 

P
age 70


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Child Sexual Exploitation update
	Enc. 1 for Child Sexual Exploitation update

	5 Nottingham City Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17
	Enc. 2 for Nottingham City Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17
	Enc. 3 for Nottingham City Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

	6 Scrutiny of Portfolio Holder for Early Intervention and Early Years
	7 Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee Work Programme
	Enc. 2 for Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee Work Programme


